Silgan 2002 Annual Report

SR
RN

030565974

[ AR 30 2009

Bt

HHHHHHHHH




o z
R &
2 §
gg@dst 'E |

e W [tetoied X
[ Exfoni | g
7

st

. 1 L

o r\::—_j _E;
- . ! =

- 7N b}
¥ w37

GOVA
Cannellini
Adnbias




Qil-Free




The primary mission of our business is to compete and win in the

markets served. We should be the best at what we do.
In support of that mission we believe these principles are vital:

= We must respond to the needs of the marketplace with quality » =
and services, while seeking advantage versus our competition.

= We will promote and reward excellence in the performance

of our 1 because we believe this is the primary way to achieve
competitive advantage.

= Where we have or believe we can develop
we will seek growth. Where we don't have competitive advantage, we
will refocus, restructure or withdraw.

= Finally, as this mission is pursued we will hold ourselves to the
highest standards of ethical behavior in our internal and
external «+ e wa engendering employee pride in the conduct

as well as the achievements of the organization.




Letter To Shareholders

Fellow Shareholder: While 2002 was a very successful year for Silgan both financially
and strategically, it was also a year of great turbulence for American business. As we reflect
on the events of 2002, we believe they serve to validate the basic principles upon which we
have built and continue to operate our business. These principles are summarized in our
mission statement on the facing page. It has long been our view that successfully following
these principles will result in building the most defensible competitive position — a market fran-
chise position. By building franchises and maintaining a relentless focus on cash returns,
Silgan has created long-term shareholder value. In this Annual Report, we will expand upon
our strategy of value creation, highlight the successes we have already experienced by
consistently following this approach and share our view of how well-positioned Silgan is to
realize future successes.

In 2002, Silgan reported record sales of $2 billion and record net income of $53.8 million. We
were successful in strengthening our franchise positions, increasing volume, sales and
income from operations in both our metal food container and plastic container businesses. In
the metal food container business, our overall food can market share grew to 49 percent,
more than double our nearest competitor. We received Hormel's “Spirit of Excellence Award”
for the 9th consecutive year and Birds Eye Food's inaugural “Supplier of the Year Award.” In
the plastic container business, we grew unit volume by 5 percent and income from operations
by 15 percent, as we focused on providing increased value to customers looking to differenti-
ate themselves in terms of unique container designs, speed to market and enhanced graph-
ics. Customers in the personal care market ranked Silgan Plastics the number one overall
plastic container supplier in the MGT industry study. We also completed a new $850 million
bank credit facility, which provides limited maturities through 2007 and increases our financial
flexibility. Finally, early in 2003 we consummated three strategic bolt-on acquisitions.

While pleased with Silgan's performance in 2002, we take a much longer-term perspective on
value creation. In our view, a successful business must continually generate strong cash
returns and then either identify new opportunities to increase value, repay debt or pay divi-
dends. Since the inception of Silgan in 1987, we have pursued a strategy of value creation
that starts with identifying market segments in which we could compete and win and then
assembling an organization with skills, expertise and an unwavering focus on fulfilling the



R. Philip Silver, Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer

unigue needs of the customers within these markets. We believe companies that provide the
best value in meeting their individual customer's desired mix of price, quality and service will
be rewarded with a larger share of the business and long-term partnerships. With increased
share comes competitive advantages and the ability to further provide value. When success-
fully implemented, this cycle results in a market franchise position, which should in turn result
in stable cash flows and the creation of shareholder value through compstitively superior
returns on capital.

We have successfully established these types of franchise positions in the metal food
container market and in the plastic container market for personal care products. We offer our
customers what we believe is the best value in these markets, including consistently high
quality products, unparalleled geographic coverage for manufacturing and technical support
and a willingness to support their growth initiatives. With 69 manufacturing facilities in North
America and industry leading equipment capabilities, we believe no other competitor can
offer comparable support and service. As a result, we enjoy long-term customer relationships,
strong and growing market share positions, significant stability in cash flows and consistently
high returns on capital.

Considering the importance of these markets to our business and our relative share in them,
we have a vested interest in the ongoing success of our customers. We do not take these
positions for granted. Instead, we have made capital investments at a relatively high level in
each of the last two years to provide the new products desired by the marketplace. We con-
tinue to offer advancements such as convenience ends for metal faod containers and the
widest possible array of plastic container and decoration options, and we continue to hone
our focus on customer service. With the acquisition of Amcor White Cap, LLC in March 2003,
we added a leading position in the metal and plastic vacuum closures market for food and
beverages that naturally fits with our metal food container business.

Only by generating stable cash flows to service our debt and providing attractive returns to
our shareholders can we expect access to capital to further build franchises and provide even
greater value to our customers. Accordingly, we maintain a relentless focus on cash returns
from the business. For instance, specific customer commitments are often negotiated in




D. Greg Horrigan, President and Co-Chief Executive Officer

advance of new capacity expenditures, rather than trying to fill the capacity after it has been
built. Throughout the organization, our managers are sharply focused on satisfying the needs
of their customers while concurrently controlling costs and ensuring attractive returns. As a
result, we operate with one of the lowest selling, general and administrative cost levels in the
industry, and in 2002 our return on capital employed was 16.5 percent.

We believe this approach to value creation has been successful for Silgan in the past, and we
intend to follow it in the future. We will make additional investments to enhance the value
offered to our customers, such as convenience end capacity for metal food containers. We
will look to continue to make acquisitions that strengthen our franchise positions, such as the
acquisition of the Thatcher Tubes business in January 2003. This business, which manufac-
tures and sells decorated plastic tubes to the personal care market, represents a natural
extension of our plastic container product line. We will also consider new opportunities in rele-
vant consumer packaging markets, such as the closure business acquired in March 2003.
Whether evaluating acguisitions or investing in our existing business, our focus will continue to
be on generating attractive cash-on-cash returns, well in excess of our cost of capital.

In 2008 and beyond, we will concentrate on achieving internal performance targets, integrat-
ing newly acquired businesses and, in the absence of compelling acquisition opportunities,
repaying debt. For the past 15 years we have utilized relatively high debt levels to finance the
growth of our business and optimize leveraged returns for the shareholders. We have been
willing to increase debt levels when compelling opportunities presented themselves, and we
have paid down debt when they did not. Given the stability of the cash flow in our business
and our demonstrated performance in managing cur debt levels, Silgan enjoys one of the
lowest costs of capital of any of its peers. We will continue to use debt in this same disci-
plined manner.

On the organizational side, we have endeavored to ensure that both the assets and the repu-
tation of Silgan are well protected. In that regard, no one worked harder or more effectively to
safeguard Silgan’s assets and its reputation than Toby Rankin. After serving for fourteen years
as Silgan’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, Toby elected to retire on July
1, 2002. His efforts over the years have been vital to Silgan’'s growth and success. We deeply



Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

(Doltars in thousands)

Cperating results

Net sales $1,988,284 $ 1,940,994 $ 1,877,497 $ 1,892,078 §$ 1,768,745
Income from operations $ 167,940 $ 152411 $§ 157,102 $§ 124,292 § 154,264
Net income $ 5388 $ 41765 $ 31,308 $ 23930 $ 45924

Cash flow and other data

Capital expenditures $ 119160 $ 93042 $ 89227 $ 87421 $§ 86,073
Net cash provided by operating

activities $ 163,293 $ 142983 $ 95145 $ 143269 $ 147412
Return on capital employed(! 16.5% 15.9% 15.5% 14.9% 17.7%

(1) Return on capital employed means income from operations as a percent of year end total debt and total stockholders’ equity.

appreciate his years of dedicated service and wish him well in his retirement. We remain
focused on developing the next generation of management for Silgan, imbedding our tradition
of market-focused business development. We have filled several of our senior level positions
with new and internally developed executives, and intend to provide them with increasing
challenges and opportunities.

We will also increase our efforts to communicate with you, our shareholders, about progress
against these business goals. We are proud of our accomplishments and are excited about
our opportunities, and, therefore, look forward to sharing them as they develop.

Since the founding of this business in 1987, we have followed an unwavering strategy. By
successfully pursuing this strategy, we have now established two franchise market positions.
These market positions, along with a keen focus on cash returns in our daily business deci-
sions, have allowed us to generate strong cash flows and solid returns on capital. Today, we
enjoy leadership positions and competitive advantages in the markets that we serve; long-
standing relationships with the premier consumer goods companies; and earnings growth
opportunities from new product offerings, productivity enhancements and recent acquisitions.
We are proud of our past and excited about our future.

None of our past accomplishments or our ambitious plans for the future could be accom-
plished without the commitment and support of the thousands of men and women of Silgan.
We are grateful for their many contributions and draw our confidence from a first-hand knowl-
edge of the unique capabilities of these individuals and the constancy of purpose of the
Silgan team.

% Gt Y y

R. Philip Silver D. Greg Horrigan




Creating value:
From product line to bottom line
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Ultimately, the measure of a strategy is the value it creates
for shareholders. In order to accomplish this, we seek to generate
returns on capital employed substantially above our cost of
capital. Recently, we have invested in new product capacity, several
acquisitions and manufacturing automation, which we believe
positions the Company for future value creation.



The primary commitment of our employees

to our customers is well understood — deliver our packaging

products on time and right the first time.

Russell F. Gervais, President - Silgan Plastics Corporation
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Market
Focused

It all starts with the cus-
tomer. The primary goal at
Silgan is on providing
each of our customers
with a unique blend of
guality, price and service
that the customers per-
ceive as best value. This
mix can change by mar-
ket or customer. We are
aware that the market

votes every day on how
their suppliers are doing.
By remaining focused on
this goal, Silgan has been
rewarded with long-term
relationships and growing
market shares. Today,

we enjoy leadership posi-
tions in each of the pri-
mary market segments we
serve. We are well-aligned

Geographic presence is an important element in
providing manufacturing and technical support for metal
and plastic containers. With 69 strategically located plants
in North America, Silgan has a competitive advantage in
supplying the needs of our customers.

Net Sales

(in millions) with the market leaders in
these segments, and gener-
ally have multi-year supply
agreements. This has al-

lowed us to steadily expand

1 $1,428
1 $1,541
1 $1,769
) $1,892
—1 $1,877
] $1.941
1 $1,988

sales, which have grown
at a compound annual
growth rate of 13% since
1993, and to establish a
reputation for superior cus-
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tomer service.
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Share:

Metal Foed Containers

Through an unwavering focus on the needs of
the market, Silgan has steadily increased its

share of the metal food can market in the United
States to 49% in 2002.

Relationships:

As a result of our market and customer focus,

Silgan and its predecessors have provided

service and products to our top customers for

an average of 45 years.

Plastic Containers

Years Years
Customer supplied” Brands Customer suppiied* Brands
Nestlé 103 Carnation, Friskies, Nestié, Ortega Unilever 33 Suave, Finesse, Salon Selectives,
Thermasilk, Wish-bone, Dove, Pond’s

Campbell Soup 66 Campbell, Franco-American,V8, Procter & Gamble 33 Pantene, Pepto-Bismol, Herbal

Swanson Essences, Daily Defense, Vicks Nyquil
Hormel 65 Hormel, Dinty Moore, Stagg, Spam Avon 23 Bubble Bath, Anew, Naturals
Del Monte 49 Del Monte, Contadina, S&W, L'Oréal 21 L'Oréal Kids Shampoo, Matrix

College Inn
General Mills 41 Green Giant, Progresso, Old El Paso Pfizer 19 Listerine, Lubriderm, Plax, Benadryi

‘Includes predecessor companies



Results:

Cash generated from operations has increased

to $163.3 million, representing a 15% compounded
annual growth rate since 1993.

Net income applicable to common stockholders
has increased to $53.8 million, representing

a compounded annual growth rate in diluted EPS
of over 13% since 1996, the year prior to our

stock becoming publicly traded.

Results
Oriented

While our strategy starts
with the customer, our
goal ends at the share-
holder. At Silgan, we
understand the impor-
tance of generating strong
and consistent returns
for our shareholders. For
this reason, we focus on
strengthening our fran-
chise market positions,

which we believe allow
attractive and steady
financial returns. Our busi-
ness segments are in-
fused with an entrepre-
neurial spirit. With approx-
imately 40% management
ownership, we are disci-

" plined in deploying capi-

tal. Both in capital expen-
ditures and acquisitions,

Business Segments -
2002 {in millions)

Sales
$501.3
=1
e
$1,487.0

Operating income

$120.6

O Metal Food Containers
O Plastic Containers

we focus on ensuring
attractive cash-on-cash
returns while also recog-
nizing the need to build
long-term value. Gener-
ally, major capital expen-
ditures are made only
when customer commit-
ments are in hand. As an
example, we are investing
in capacity for conven-




In my experience, what makes Silgan unigue is the

focus throughout all levels of management on both the market needs

and ensuring attractive returns on resources expended. This focus

ience ends in partnership
with our customers. To
date, we are able to pro-
vide about 40% of our
metal food can volume
with a convenience end.
Conversely, we are willing
to restructure and with-
draw where we cannot
sustain a competitive
advantage. Equally, we

is evident in the financial results of the Company.

James D. Beam, President — Silgan Containers Corporation

Return on Capital

Employed

Returns:

A successful strategy should provide attractive returns

on the resources invested. Return on capital employed,

calculated as operating income divided by year end total
debt and total stockholders' equity, was 16.5% in 2002.

17.7%

] 14.9%

1 15.5%

7 15.9%

] 16.5%

are disciplined in our use
of debt to support our
growth objectives and op-
timize leveraged returns
to shareholders. As a
result, we have substan-
tially increased cash gen-
erated from operations
since our inception in
1987. Our return on capi-
tal employed has aver-

aged over 16% for the past
five years, well in excess

of our cost of capital. These
results did not just happen.
They are the predictable
outcome of talented people,
steadily focused on meeting
the needs of the market
while achieving a fair return
for the effort.




Silgan has a long history of consistent value creation and successful

acquisition integration. Having recently made significant new investments in

value-added product capabilities and three strategic bolt-on acquisitions, as weil as

strengthening our balance sheet with a more flexible credit agreement, we are

Positioned
for the Future

We believe Silgan is well
positioned to continue our
trend of strong financial
returns and value creation.
In supporting our cus-
tomers’ growth initiatives,
we have recently made
significant investments in
new product capacity,
which will provide future
growth for the Company.

10

confident about opportunities for further value creation.

Anthony J. Allott, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Cfficer

We have also increased
our investment in automa-
tion and productivity en-
hancing projects. At the
same time, we have re-
cently made three acquisi-
tions, which strategically
strengthen our market
positions and provide
strong cash flow. Each of
these investments was
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We invested $119 million in capital in 2002
to increase capacity for new products and
enhance automation and productivity, as well
as to fund routine expenditures.

Capital Expenditures

(in milions) made with a clear focus
on cash returns. In 2002,
we also increased our liquid-
ity by refinancing our U.S.

senior secured credit facility.

1 $119.2

] $93.0

The combination of sound
capital investments in our
existing businesses, accre-
tive acquisitions and a strong
balance sheet positions us

7 7 %892
i
—

well for the future.

QT %864
T $87.4
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sExpress Plastic
Containers

*Amoco
Container
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Acquisitions;
From inception, Silgan has grown through
strategic acquisitions and has successfully
integrated these acquisitions. Since 1987,
we have completed 20 acquisitions.
Proven Acquisition Track Record
Metal Food Containers
°Carnation = Fort Madison < Del Monte eANC Food  eFinger sAlcoa = Campbell *White Cap
Can ) (Dial) Can Cans Lakes Aluminum Can <PCP Can
(Nestlé) «Seaboard (Birds Eye) Closures
(Nestié)
e e s e ‘38 ‘o6 cmor | cwm maen P >
Plastic Containers
+Monsanto *Aim sRexam eWinn *RX| = Thatcher
Plastic Bottle Packaging Plastic «Clearplass Tubes
Bottle P
«Fortune
Plastics




Management's Discussion and Analysis

Silgan Holdings inc.

The following discussion and analysis is intended to
assist you in understanding our consoclidated financial con-
dition and results of operations for the three-year period
ended December 31, 2002. Our consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying notes included else-
where in this Annual Report contain detailed information
that you should refer to in conjunction with the following dis-
cussion and analysis.

General

We are a leading North American manufacturer of metal
and plastic consumer gocds packaging products. We cur-
rently produce steel and aluminum containers for human
and pet food and custom designed plastic containers,
tubes and closures for personal care, health care, pharma-
ceutical, household and industrial chemical, food, pet care,
agricultural chemical, automotive and marine chemical
products, and metal, composite and plastic closures for
food and beverage products. We are the largest manufac-
turer of metal food containers in North America, with a unit
sale market share for the year ended December 31, 2002 of
approximately 49 percent in the United States, a leading
manufacturer of plastic containers in North America for per-
sonal care products and a leading manufacturer of metal
and plastic vacuum closures in North America for food and
beverage products.

Sales Growth

Our objective is to increase shareholder value through
efficiently deploying capital and management resources to
grow our business and reduce costs of existing operations
and to complete acauisitions that generate attractive cash
returns. We have increased sales and market share in our
metal food container and plastic container businesses
through acquisitions and internal growth. As a result, we
have expanded and diversified our customer base, geo-
graphic presence and product lines.

During the past fifteen years, the metal food container
market has experienced significant consolidation primarily
due to the desire by food processors to reduce costs and
focus resources on their care operations rather than self-
manufacture their metal food containers. Our acquisitions
of the metal food container manufacturing operations of

12

Nestlé Food Company, The Dial Corporation, Del Monte
Caorparation, Birds Eye Foods, Inc. and Campbell Soup
Company, or Campbell, as well &s our recently announced
acquisition of PCP Can Manufacturing, Inc., a subsidiary of
Pacific Coast Producers, or PCP, through which PCP self-
manufactures its metal food containers, reflect this trend.

We have improved the market position of our plastic
container business since 1987, with sales increasing more
than fivefold to $501.3 million in 2002. We achieved this
improved market position primarily through strategic acqui-
sitions, including most recently substantially all of the
assets of Thatcher Tubes LLC and its affiliates, or Thatcher
Tubes, as well as through internal growth. The plastic con-
tainer business of the consumer goods packaging industry
is highly fragmented, and we intend to pursue further con-
solidation cpportunities in this market. We also believe that
we can successfully apply our acquisition and operating
expertise to new markets of the consumer goods packag-
ing industry. With our acquisition of Thatcher Tubes in Janu-
ary 2003, we extended our business into decorated plastic
tubes primarily for personal care products to compiement
our plastic container business. Additionally, with cur acqui-
sition of RXI Holdings, Inc., or RXI, in October 2000, we
expanded our business into plastic closures, caps, sifters
and fitments and thermoformed plastic tubs. We expect to
continue to generate internal growth in our plastic container
business. For example, we intend to aggressively market
our decorated plastic tubes and plastic closures to existing
customers of our plastic container business. Additionally,
we intend to continue to expand cur customer base in the
markets that we serve, such as the personal care, health
care, pharmaceutical, household and industrial chemical,
food, pet care, agricultural chemical, automotive and
marine chemical markets.

In March 2003, we acquired the remaining 65 percent
equity interest in Amcor White Cap, LLC, or White Cap, that
we did not already own. The business is a leading manu-
facturer of metal and plastic vacuum closures in North
America for food and beverage products. In 2002, the busi-
ness had approximately $250 million of net sales.

Operating Performance

We use a disciplined approach to acguire businesses
that generate attractive cash returns and enhance prof-
itability through productivity and cost reduction opportuni-
ties. The additional sales and production capacity provided
through acquisitions have enabled us to rationalize plant
operations and decrease overhead costs through plant




closings and downsizings. In addition, our acquisitions
have enabled us tc realize manufacturing efficiencies as a
result of optimizing production scheduling and minimizing
product transportation costs. We have also benefited from
our economies of scale and from the elimination of redun-
dant selling and administrative functions.

In addition to the benefits realized through the integra-
tion of acquired businesses, we have improved the operat-
ing performance of our existing plant facilities through the
investment of capital for productivity improvements and
manufacturing cost reductions. During 2002, our metal food
container business entered into a long-term technical
agreement with Daiwa Can Company, or Daiwa, of Tokyo,
Japan. Daiwa is a major producer of metal food and bever-
age containers as well as plastic containers for cosmetics
and foods in Japan, and our relationship with Daiwa gives
us access to new products, manufacturing processes and
materials technologies that have been exclusively devel-
oped by Daiwa. We have also invested capital for new mar-
ket opportunities, such as convenience ends for metal food
containers. Over the past five years, we have invested
$474.9 million in capital to maintain our market position,
improve our productivity, reduce our manufacturing costs
and invest in new market opportunities.

We operate in a competitive industry where it is neces-
sary to realize cost reduction opportunities to offset contin-
ued competitive pricing pressure. Recently, our plastic con-
tainer business began to experience increased competitive
pressures. For example, some customers have consoli-
dated and are placing larger portions of their business up
for competitive bidding. Historically, we have been suc-
cessful in renewing our multi-year supply arrangements
with our customers. In 2002, we extended the term of our
supply agreements with various customers in return for
price adjustments. Further, the multi-year supply agree-
ments that we enter into with many of our customers limit
our ability to increase our margins. We estimate that
approximately 85 percent of our projected metal food con-
tainer sales in 2003 and a majority of our projected plastic
container sales in 2003 will be under multi-year arrange-
ments. Many of these multi-year supply arrangements gen-
erally provide for the pass through of changes in material,

labor and other manufacturing costs, thereby significantly
reducing the exposure of our results of operations to the
volatility of these costs.

Our metal food container business' sales and, to a
lesser extent, operating income are dependent, in part,
upon the vegetable and fruit harvests in the midwest and
western regions of the United States. The size and quality of
these harvests varies from year to year, depending in large
part upon the weather conditions in those regions. Because
of the seasonality of the harvests, we have historically expe-
rienced higher unit sales volume in the third quarter of our
fiscal year and generated a disproportionate amount of our
annual income from operations during that quarter. This
seasonal impact has been mitigated somewhat by the
acquisition of the steel container manufacturing business of
Campbell, or CS Can, from Campbell. Sales to Campbell
generally have been highest in the fourth quarter due to the
seasonal demand for soup products.

Use of Capital

We use leverage to support our growth and increase
shareholder returns. Our stable and predictable cash flow,
generated largely as a result of our multi-year customer
contracts and generally recession resistant business, sup-
ports our financial strategy. We intend to continue using
leverage, supported by our stable cash flows, to make
value-enhancing acquisitions. In the absence of attractive
acquisition opportunities, we intend to use our free cash
flow to repay indebtedness or for other permitted purposes.
For example, we did not complete any acquisitions during
2002 or 2001, and over that period we reduced our total
debt by $73.9 million and increased our cash balances by
$38.2 million.

To the extent we utilize debt for acquisitions or other per-
mitted purposes in future periods, our interest expense may
increase. Further, since the revolving loan and term loan
borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities bear
interest at floating rates, our interest expense is sensitive to
changes in prevailing rates of interest and, accordingly, our
interest expense may vary from period to period. After tak-
ing into account interest rate swap agreements that we
entered into to mitigate the effect of interest rate fluctua-
tions, at December 31, 2002 we had $73.3 million of indebt-
edness which bore interest at floating rates.

In light of our strategy to use leverage to support our
growth and optimize shareholder returns, we have incurred
and will continue to incur significant interest expense. For

13




Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Silgan Holdings Inc.

2002, our aggregate interest and other debt expense was
43.9 percent of our income from operations as compared to
53.3 percent, 58.0 percent, 69.2 percent and 52.8 percent
for 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

In April 2002, we issued an additional $200 million
aggregate principal amount of our 9% Senior Subordinated
Debentures due 2009, or the 9% Debentures, the proceeds
of which were used to repay revolving loans under our pre-
vious U.S. senior secured credit facility, or the U.S. Credit
Agreement. In June 2002, we refinanced the U.S. Credit
Agreement by entering into a new $850 million senior
secured credit facility, or the New Credit Agreement. The
New Credit Agreement also provides us with an incremental
uncommitted term loan facility of up to an additional $275
million ($150 million of which has been borrowed as
described below) which may be used to finance acquisi-
tions and for other permitted purpcses. The New Credit
Agreement provides increased flexibility to, among other
things, make acquisitions, pay dividends and incur addi-
tional debt. Under the New Credit Agreement, the interest
rate for all loans will be either the Eurodollar rate plus a mar-
gin or the prime lending rete of Deutsche Bank Trust Com-
pany Americas, or Deutsche Bank, plus a margin. Initially,
the margin for Eurodoliar rate loans is 2 percent and the
margin for prime rate loans is 1 percent. Under the U.S.
Credit Agreement, the interest rate for A term loans and
revolving loans was the Eurodollar rate plus a margin of 1
percent or the prime lending rate of Deutsche Bank. For B
term loans, the interest rate was the Eurodollar rate plus a
margin of 1.5 percent or thie prime lending rate of Deutsche
Bank plus a margin of 0.5 percent.

In January 2003, we acquired substantially all of the
assets of Thatcher Tubes, a privately held manufacturer
and marketer of decorated plastic tubes serving primarily
the personal care industry. Thatcher Tubes operates manu-
facturing facilities in Woodstock, tlinois and Culiacan, Mex-
ico and had net sales of approximately $29 million in 2002.
The purchase price, including additional production capac-
ity recently installed and currently being installed, was
approximately $32 million in cash. In March 2003, we
acquired the remaining 65 percent equity interest in White
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Cap that we did not already own for $37.1 million in cash
and refinanced approximately $90 million of debt of the
business. In March 2003, we also completed a $150 million
incremental term loan borrowing under the New Credit
Agreement largely to finance the acquisitions of White Cap
and Thatcher Tubes.

White Cap Joint Venture

Effective July 1, 2001, we formed a joint venture com-
pany with Schmalbach-Lubeca AG that is a leading sup-
plier of an extensive range of metal and plastic closures to
consumer goods packaging companies in the food and
beverage industries in North America. The venture oper-
ated under the name Amcor White Cap, LLC. We con-
tributed $48.4 million of metal closure assets, including our
manufacturing facilities in Evansville and Richmond, Indi-
ana, and $7.1 million of metal closure liabilities to White
Cap in return for a 35 percent interest in and $32.4 million of
cash proceeds from the joint venture. Net sales of our metal
closure business, which was contributed to the White Cap
joint venture, totaled $46.3 million and $30.8 million in 2001
and 2000, respectively. Schmalbach-Lubeca AG con-
tributed the remaining metal and plastic closure operations
to the joint venture. In July 2002, Amcor Ltd. purchased
Schmalbach-Lubeca AG’s interest in the joint venture.

During 2002, we recorded equity in losses of White Cap
of $2.6 million, net of income taxes. As part of the integra-
tion of the contributed businesses, the White Cap joint ven-
ture instituted a program to rationalize its operations. As a
result, our equity in losses of White Cap for 2002 included
$2.0 million, net of income taxes, for our portion of White
Cap’s rationalization charge to close its Chicago, lllinois
metal closure manufacturing facility and $0.7 million, net of
income taxes, for our portion of White Cap's gain on the
sale of certain assets at a price in excess of book value.
During 2001, we recorded equity in losses of White Cap of
$0.3 million and a gain on the assets contributed to the joint
venture of $4.9 million.

In March 2003, we acquired the remaining 65 percent
equity interest in White Cap that we did not already own for
$37.1 million in cash and refinanced approximately $90 mil-
lion of debt of the business. The business is headquartered
in Chicago and presently operates seven manufacturing
facilities located in Athens, Georgia; Champaign, Illinois;
West Hazleton, Pennsylvania; Evansville, Indiana; Rich-
mond, Indiana; Chicago, lllinois; and Queretaro, Mexico.
The business operates as part of our metal food container
business due to similarities in end-use markets. Net sales
for the business were approximately $250 million in 2002.




Packtion Investment
In April 2000, we, together with Morgan Stanley Private
Equity and Diamondcluster International, Inc., agreed to

invest in Packtion Corporation, or Packtion, an e-commerce
joint venture aimed at integrating the packaging supply
chain, from design through manufacture and procurement.
The parties agreed to make the investments through Pack-
aging Markets LLC, a limited liability company. The joint
venture was expected to provide a comprehensive online
marketplace for packaging goods and services and to
combine content, tools and collaboration capabilities to
streamline the product development process and enhance
transaction opportunities for buyers and sellers of packag-
ing. The products that Packtion was developing included a
web-based software tool to enable product and package
design, development and coliaboration; an internet-based
secure environment enabling the sharing of packaging
related product information and the transaction of business
electronically; and an informational source of packaging
related knowledge, tools and expert services. Packtion had
insignificant sales for internet consulting services and
incurred net losses.

In June and August 2000, we invested a total of $7.0 mil-
lion in Packtion representing approximately a 45 percent
interest in Packtion. For the year ended December 31,
2000, we recorded equity in losses of Packtion of $4.6 mil-
lion. In the first quarter of 2001 in connection with an invest-
ment by The Procter & Gamble Company and E.I. Du Pont
de Nemours & Co. in Packtion, we invested an additional
$3.1 million, bringing our total investment to $10.1 million
representing approximately a 25 percent interest in Pack-
tion. Packtion was dissolved on May 31, 2001 after its board
of directors determined that there had been slower than
anticipated market acceptance of its business. During
2001, we recorded equity in losses of Packtion aggregating
$3.8 million, which included our final losses and eliminated
our investment.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain income statement
data expressed as a percentage of net sales for each of the
periods presented. You should read this table in conjunc-
tion with our Consolidated Financial Statements for the year
ended December 31, 2002 and the accompanying notes
included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

Operating Data:

Net sales:

Metal food containers 74.8% 72.2% 73.9%

Plastic containers 25.2 254 21.3

Metal closures — 2.4 4.8

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0

Cost of goods sold 88.0 87.6 87.8
Gross profit 12.0 12.4 12.2
Selling, general and

administrative expenses 38 4.0 3.8
Rationatization (credits)

charges (0.2) 0.5 —
Income from operations 8.4 7.8 8.4
Gain on assets contributed

to affiliate — 0.3 —
Interest and other debt

expense 37 42 4.9

Income before income taxes,

equity in losses of affiliates

and extraordinary item 47 40 35
Provision for income taxes 1.9 1.6 14

Income before equity in

losses of affiliates and

extraordinary item 28 24 2.1
Equity in losses of affiliates (0.1) (0.2) (0.2)

Income before extraordinary

item 27 2.2 19
Extraordinary item - loss on

early extinguishment of

debt, net of income taxes — — (0.2)

Net income 2.7% 2.2% 1.7%
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Summary results for our business segments for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 are pro-
vided below.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in millions)

Net sales:
Metal food containers  $1,487.0 $1,401.1 $1,387.7
Plastic containers 501.3 493.6 399.0
Metal closures — 46.3 90.8

Consolidated $1,988.3 $1,941.0 $1,8775

Income from operations:

Metal food containers('$ 1206 $ 1083 §$ 120.2

Plastic containers(? 52.9 46.0 36.9
Metal closures — 3.3 3.7
Corporate (5.6) (5.2) (3.7)

Consolidated $ 167.9 $ 1524 § 1571

(1) Includes rationalization credits of $5.4 million in 2002 and
net rationalization charges of $5.8 million in 2001. You should
also read Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for
the year ended December 31, 2002 included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

(2) Includes a rationalization credit of $0.2 million in 2002 and a
rationalization charge of $3.5 million in 2001. You should also
read Note 3 to our Consolideted Financial Statements for the
year ended December 31, 2002 included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

Year Ended December 31,2002 Compared with Year
Ended December 31, 2001

Net Sales. Consolidated net sales increased $47.3 mil-
lion, or 2.4 percent, to $1.988 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2002, as compared to net sales of $1.941 bil-
lion for 2001. This increase was largely the result of higher
net sales of the metal food container business and, to a
lesser extent, of the plastic container business, partially off-
set by the impact of contributing the metal closure business
to the White Cap joint venture in July 2001,

Net sales for the metal food container business were
$1.487 billion for the year ended December 31, 2002, an
increase of $85.9 millicn, or 6.1 percent, from net sales of
$1.401 billion for 2001. This increase was primarily attribut-
able to higher unit volume principally as a result of new
business on the West Coast and a stronger fruit and veg-
etable pack as compared to 2001.

Net sales for the plastic container business of $501.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased
$7.7 million, or 1.6 percent, from net sales of $493.6 million
for 2001. This increase was primarily a result of higher unit
volume due primarily to new business, partially offset by
lower average selling prices due principally to the pass
through of lower resin costs and a less favorable sales mix.

Cost of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold was 88.0 percent
of consolidated net sales for the year ended December 31,
2002, an increase of 0.4 percentage point as compared to
2001, This increase was principally due to the effect of price
adjustments related to certain contract negotiations, higher
manufacturing costs to initially abserb new business in the
metal food container business and higher depreciation
expense, partially offset by higher volume and the elimina-
tion of goodwill amortization in both the metal food container
and the plastic container businesses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling,
general and administrative expenses were $76.2 million, or
3.8 percent of consolidated net sales, for the year ended
December 31, 2002, as compared to $78.5 million, or 4.0
percent of consolidated net sales for 2001. This decrease
was primarily due to net payments received in settlement of
certain litigation in 2002, partially offset by higher selling
and commercial development expenses in the plastic con-
tainer business.

Income from Operations. Income from operations for
2002 increased by $15.5 million, or 10.2 percent, to $167.9
million as compared to $152.4 million for the same period in
2001, and operating margin increased to 8.4 percent from
7.9 percent. The increases in income from operations and
operating margin were primarily a result of higher volumes,
rationalization credits in 2002 as compared to net rational-
ization charges in 2001 and the elimination of goodwill
amortization, partially offset by the effect of price adjust-
ments relating to certain contract negotiations, higher
depreciation expense, higher costs to initially absorb new
business in the metal food container business and the
impact of contributing the metal closures business to the
White Cap joint venture in July 2001,

We recorded rationalization credits in 2002 totaling $5.6
million. These rationalization credits included $2.4 million
related primarily to the decision to support new business
requirements by continuing to operate the Kingsburg, Cali-
fornia metal food container facility that was previously
expected to be closed, $3.0 million related primarily to cer-
tain previously written down assets of the metal food con-




tainer business that were placed back in service 10 meet
business requirements and $0.2 million related to certain
aspects of a rationalization plan to close a plastic container

manufacturing facility that were completed at amounts less
than originally estimated. In 2001, we recorded net rational-
ization charges totaling $9.3 million. These net rationaliza-
tion charges included a $5.8 million charge in the metall
food container business, comprised of a charge of $7.0 mil-
lion, including $4.2 million for the non-cash write-down in
carrying value of assets, primarily relating to the planned
closing of two metal food container manufacturing facilities
(including the Kingsburg, California facility) and a $1.2 mil-
lion credit as a result of certain assets of the metal food
container business that were placed back in service, and a
$3.5 million charge related to closing a plastic container
manufacturing facility.

Income from operations of the metal food container
business for 2002 increased $12.3 million, or 11.4 percent,
to $120.6 million as compared to $108.3 million in 2001,
and operating margin increased to 8.1 percent from 7.7
percent. The increases in income from operations and
operating margin were principally due to higher volume,
rationalization credits in 2002 as compared to net rational-
ization charges in 2001 and the elimination of goodwill
amortization, partially offset by the effect of price adjust-
ments relating to certain contract negotiations, higher
depreciation expense, higher manufacturing costs to ini-
tially absorb new business, start-up costs related to the
manufacture of convenience ends and increased employee
health and welfare costs.

Income from operations of the plastic container busi-
ness for 2002 increased $6.9 million, or 15.0 percent, to
$52.9 million as compared to $46.0 million in 2001, and
operating margin increased to 10.6 percent from 9.3 per-
cent. The increases in income from operations and operat-
ing margin were primarily a result of higher volumes, a
rationalization charge recorded in 2001, the elimination of
goodwill amortizétion and improved operational efficien-
cies, partially offset by higher depreciation expense, higher
selling and commercial development expenses and higher
employee health and welfare costs.

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased $7.4 mil-
lion to $73.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002
as compared to $81.2 million in 2001. This decrease
resulted primarily from a lower average interest rate and
approximately $75 million in lower average borrowings dur-
ing 2002 as compared to 2001. Despite the add-on
issuance of $200 million of 9% Debentures and higher inter-
est rate spreads over LIBOR as a result of the refinancing of
the U.S. Credit Agreement, we experienced a lower average
interest rate as compared to 2001 as a result of lower LIBOR
rates.

Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes for the year
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was recorded at an
estimated effective annual income tax rate of 39.5 percent
and 39.7 percent, respectively.

Net Income and Earnings per Share. Net income for the
year ended December 31, 2002 was $53.8 million, or $2.93
per diluted share, as compared to net income of $41.8 mil-
lion, or $2.31 per diluted share, for 2001. Net income for
2002 included our share of White Cap's rationalization
charge of $2.0 millien, net of income taxes, or $0.11 per
diluted share, and our share of White Cap's gain on the sale
of assets of $0.7 million, net of income taxes, or $0.04 per
diluted share. Net income for 2002 also included rationaliza-
tion credits totaling $5.6 million, or $0.18 per diluted share,
and an extracrdinary charge, net of income taxes, of $0.6
miliion, or $0.03 per diluted share, for the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs as a result of the refinanc-
ing of the U.S. Credit Agreement. Net income for 2001
included net rationalization charges of $9.3 million, or $0.31
per diluted share, a gain on assets contributed to the White
Cap joint venture of $4.9 million, or $0.16 per diluted share,
and equity in losses of Packtion of $3.8 million, or $0.21 per
diluted share.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS,
No. 142, “Goedwill and Other Intangible Assets,” required
us to eliminate the amortization of goodwill effective Janu-
ary 1, 2002. For the year ended December 31, 2001, we
recorded goodwill amortization of approximately $5.0 mil-
lion, or $0.17 per diluted share. During 2002, the metal food
container and plastic container businesses benefited from
the elimination of $2.3 million and $2.7 million, respectively,
of goodwill amortization.
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Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared with Year
Ended December 31, 2000

Net Sales. Consclidated net sales increased $63.5 mil-
lion, or 3.4 percent, to $1.941 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2001, as compared to net sales of $1.878 bil-
lion for 2000. This increase was the result of increased net
sales of the plastic container business largely due to the
acquisition of RX! in October 2000 and slightly higher net
sales of the metal food cortainer business, partially offset by
the impact of contributing the metal closure business to the
White Cap joint venture in July 2001,

Net sales for the metal food container business were
$1.401 billion for the year ended December 31, 2001, an
increase of $13.4 million, or 1.0 percent, from net sales of
$1.388 billion for 2000. This increase was primarily due to
the acquisition of new foocd! can customers and a favorable
sales mix primarily driven by increased sales of conven-
ience ends, largely offset by weaker fruit and vegetable
packs in 2001 as compared to 2000 and generally softer
market conditions in the first half of 2001 as compared to
2000.

Net sales for the plastic container business of $493.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2001 increased
$94.8 million, or 23.7 percent, from net sales of $399.0 mil-
lion for 2000. This increase in net sales was largely due to
the acquisition of RX! in October 2000. Additionally, cus-
tomer inventory restocking in the first half of 2001 more than
offset generally softer market conditions later in 2001.

Net sales for the metal closure business were $46.3 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2001, as compared
to net sales of $30.8 million for 2000. The decrease in net
sales was a result of contributing the metal closure busi-
ness to the White Cap joint venture on July 1, 2001.

Cost of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold as a percentage
of consolidated net sales was 87.6 percent for the year
ended December 31, 2001, a decrease of 0.2 percentage
point as compared to 87.8 percent in 2000. The increase
in gross profit margin was attributable to higher margins
from the plastic container business and was offset in part
by lower margins realized by the metal food container
business.

18

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling,
general and administrative expenses were $78.5 million, or
4.0 percent of consolidated net sales, for the year ended
December 31, 2001, as compared to $72.1 million, or 3.8
percent of consolidated net sales, for 2000. This increase in
selling, general and administrative expenses as a percent of
consolidated net sales was primarily a result of costs we
incurred related to the secondary public offering by a selling
stockholder in November 2001.

Income from Operations. Income from operations for the
year ended December 31, 2001 decreased $4.7 million, or
3.0 percent, to $152.4 million as compared to income from
operations of $157.1 million for 2000, and operating margin
decreased to 7.9 percent from 8.4 percent. The decreases
in income from operations and operating margin were pri-
marily a result of net rationalization charges, lower operating
income in the metal food container business and the impact
of contributing the metal closure business to the White Cap
joint venture, partially offset by higher sales in the plastic
container business.

During 2001, we recorded net rationalization charges of
$9.3 million. These net rationalization charges included a
$5.8 million charge in the metal food container business,
comprised of a charge of $7.0 million, including $4.2 million
for the non-cash write-down in carrying value of assets, pri-
marily relating to the planned closing of two metal food con-
tainer manufacturing facilities and a $1.2 million credit as a
resuit of certain assets of the metal food container business
that were placed back in service, and a charge of $3.5 mil-
lion related to closing a plastic container manufacturing
facility.

Income from operations for the metal food container
business for the year ended December 31, 2001 was
$108.3 million, a $11.9 million decrease from income from
operations of $120.2 million for 2000, and operating margin
decreased to 7.7 percent from 8.7 percent. The lower
income from operations and operating margin of the metal
food container business was principally attributable to net
rationalization charges, higher energy costs, higher depre-
ciation expense, start-up costs related to the manufacture
of convenience ends and higher employee medical costs,
partially offset by benefits realized from a previous plant
rationalization and a favorable sales mix.

Income from operations for the plastic container busi-
ness for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $46.0 mil-
lion, a $9.1 million increase over income from operations of
$36.9 million for 2000, and operating margin increased to




9.3 percent from 9.2 percent. The increase in income from
operations and operating margin for the plastic container
business was primarily a result of higher unit volume, par-
tially offset by a rationalization charge. )

income from operations for the metal closure business
for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $3.3 million, as
compared to income from operations of $3.7 million for
2000. The decrease in income from operations was the
result of contributing the metal closure business to the
White Cap joint venture on July 1, 2001.

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased $10.0 mil-
lion to $81.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001,
as compared to $91.2 million in 2000. This decrease was
principally a result of the benefit of lower interest rates that
more than offset the impact of higher average borrowings
outstanding, principally due to debt incurred in the fourth
guarter of 2000 for the acquisition of RXI.

Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes for the year
ended December 31, 2001 was recorded at an effective tax
rate of 39.7 percent, as compared to 39.1 percent for 2000.

Net Income and Earnings per Share. Net income for the
year ended December 31, 2001 was $41.8 million, or $2.31
per diluted share, as compared to net income of $31.3 mil-
lion, or $1.74 per diluted share, for 2000. Net income for the
year ended December 31, 2001 included net rationalization
charges of $9.3 million, or $0.31 per diluted share, equity in
losses of Packtion of $3.8 million, or $0.21 per diluted share,
and the gain on assets contributed to the White Cap joint
venture of $4.9 million, or $0.16 per diluted share. Net
income for the year ended December 31, 2000 included
equity in losses of Packtion of $4.6 million, or $0.26 per
diluted share, and the extraordinary loss, net of income
taxes, of $4.2 million, or $0.23 per diluted share, related to
the early extinguishment of our 13-1/4% Subordinated
Debentures, or the 13-1/4% Debentures,

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Our principal sources of liquidity have been net cash
from operating activities and corporate borrowings under
our revolving loan facilities. Our fiquidity requirements arise
orimarily from our obligations under the indebtedness
incurred in connection with our acquisitions and the refi-

nancing of that indebtedness, capital investment in new
and existing equipment and the funding of our seasonal
working capital needs.

On April 29, 2002, we issued an additional $200 million
aggregate principal amount of our 9% Debentures. The
newly issued 9% Debentures were an add-on issuance
under the indenture for our existing 9% Debentures origi-
nally issued in June 1997 and have identical terms to the
existing 9% Debentures. The issue price for the new 9%
Debentures was 103% of their principal amount. Net cash
proceeds received from this issuance were approximately
$202 million, after deducting selling commissions and offer-
ing expenses payable by us. The net proceeds from this
issuance were used to repay a portion of our revolving loan
obligations under the U.S. Cregit Agreement.

On June 28, 2002, we completed the refinancing of the
U.S. Credit Agreement by entering into a new $850 million
senior secured credit facility. The New Credit Agreement
provided us with $100 million of A term loans and $350 mil-
lion of B term loans, and also provides us with up to $400
million of revolving loans. Under the New Credit Agreement,
we may use revolving loans for working capital and other
operating needs as well as for acquisitions and other per-
mitted purposes. The New Credit Agreement also provides
us with an incremental uncommitted term loan facility of up
to an additional $275 million ($150 million of which has
been borrowed as described below) which may be used to
finance acquisitions and for other permitted purposes.

On March 3, 2003, we completed a $150 milfion incre-
mental term loan borrowing under the New Credit Agree-
ment. The proceeds were used largely to finance the acqui-
sitions of White Cap and Thatcher Tubes. The terms of the
incremental term loans are the same as those for B term
loans under the New Credit Agreement.

In 2002, we used proceeds of $206.0 million from the
add-on issuance of 9% Debentures, cash generated from
operations of $163.3 million, proceeds from stock option
exercises of $4.3 million and proceeds from asset sales of
$1.9 million to fund capital expenditures of $119.2 million,
net repayments of revolving loans and long-term debt of
$193.6 million and debt issuance costs of $22.4 million and
to increase cash balances by $40.3 million.

In 2002, trade accounts receivable, net decreased
$20.2 million to $124.7 million as compared to 2001,
primarily due to the timing of sales. Inventories increased
$10.2 million to $272.8 million in 2002 as compared to
2001 primarily due to the timing of sales and raw material
purchases.
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In 2001, we used cash generated from operations of
$143.0 million, cash proceeds from the White Cap joint ven-
ture of $32.4 million, proceeds from asset sales of $3.9 mil-
lion, cash balances of $2.0 million and proceeds from stock
option exercises of $1.0 million to fund capital expenditures
of $93.0 million, net repayments of revolving loans and
long-term debt of $86.3 rnillion and our investment in Pack-
tion of $3.0 million.

In 2001, trade accounts receivable, net decreased
$23.4 million to $144.9 million as compared to 2000 primar-
ily due to the impact of contributing our metal closure busi-
ness to the White Cap joint venture and the impact of a few
customers delaying payments in 2000 until the beginning of
2001. Inventories decreased $17.1 million to $262.6 million
in 2001 as compared to 2000 primarily due to the impact of
contributing our metal closure business to the White Cap
joint venture and the timing of raw material purchases and
business reguirements. Trade accounts payable decreased
$34.3 million to $173.9 million principally due to the timing
of payments and raw material purchases.

In 2000, we used net borrowings of revolving loans of
$243.7 million ($242.1 million under the U.S. Credit Agree-
ment and $1.6 million under our Canadian senior secured
credit facility), cash generated from operations of $35.1 mil-
lion, proceeds from asset sales of $1.8 million and pro-
ceeds from stock option exercises of $0.5 million to fund
the acquisition of BX| for $124.0 million, capital expendi-
tures of $89.2 million, the redemption of the 13-1/4%
Debentures for $61.8 million, repayments of $39.3 million of
term loan borrowings under our senior secured credit facili-
ties, cash balances of $17.7 million, our investment in Pack-
tion of $7.0 million, repurchases of common stock of $1.1
million and debt issuance costs of $1.0 million.

In December 2000, we redeemed all of our outstanding
13-1/4% Debentures ($56.2 million principal amount) with
lower cost revolving loans under the U.S. Credit Agreement.
The redemption price for all of the 13-1/4% Debentures,
including premiums, was $61.8 million. We benefited from
this redemption because cf the lower interest rate applica-
ble to the revolving loans, despite the slight increase in our
indebtedness as a result.

20

As of December 31, 2002, there were no revolving loans
outstanding under the New Credit Agreement, and, after
taking into account cutstanding letters of credit, the avail-
able portion of the revolving loan facility under the New
Credit Agreement was $383.1 million. Revolving loans
under the New Credit Agreement may be borrowed, repaid
and reborrowed until their final maturity on June 28, 2008.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2002, there were no out-
standing revolving loans under our Canadian senior
secured credit facility, and after taking into account out-
standing letters of credit, the available portion of the revolv-
ing loan facility under our Canadian senior secured credit
facility was $4.1 million.

The New Credit Agreement also provided us with A term
loans ($100.0 million outstanding at December 31, 2002)
and B term loans ($348.3 million outstanding at December
31, 2002), which are required to be repaid in annual instali-
ments through June 28, 2008 and November 30, 2008,
respectively. You should also read Note 9 to our Consoli-
dated Financial Statements for the year ended December
31, 2002 included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Under the New Credit Agreement, the interest rate for all
loans will be either the Eurodoliar rate plus a margin or the
prime lending rate of Deutsche Bank plus a margin. Initially,
the margin for Eurodoliar rate loans is two percent and the
margin for prime rate loans is one percent. Starting in 2003,
the margins are subject to adjustment quarterly based
upon financial ratios set forth in the New Credit Agreement.

Because we sell metal containers used in fruit and veg-
etable pack processing, we have seasonal sales. As is
common in the industry, we must access working capital to
puild inventory and then carry accounts receivable for
some customers beyond the end of the summer and fall
packing season. Seasonal accounts are generally settled
by year end. Due to our seasonal requirements, we incur
short term indebtedness 1o finance our working capital
requirements.

For 2003, we estimate that we will utilize approximately
$200-225 miillion of revolving loans under our senior
secured credit facilities for our peak seasonal working capi-
tal reguirements. We may use the available portion of our
revolving loan facilities, after taking into account our sea-
sonal needs and outstanding letters of credit, for acquisi-
tions and other permitted purposes.




Our board of directors has authorized the repurchase of
up to $70 million of our common stock. As of December 31,
2002, we have repurchased 2,708,975 shares of our com-
mon stock for an aggregate cost of approximately $61.0

million. The repurchases were financed through revolving
loan borrowings under the U.S, Credit Agreement. We
intend to finance future repurchases, if any, of our common
stock with revolving loans from the New Credit Agreement.
In addition to our operating cash needs, we believe our
cash requirements over the next few years (taking into
account recent acquisitions) will consist primarily of:

e annual capital expenditures of $30 to $115 million;

e annual principal amortization payments of bank term
loans under the New Credit Agreement (taking into
account the recent incremental term loan borrowings) of
$21.7 million;

s our interest requirements, including interest on revolving
loans (the principal amount of which will vary depending
upon seasonal requirements) and bank term loans under
the New Credit Agreement, which bear fluctuating rates of
interest, and the 9% Debentures; and

o payments of approximately $20 miliion for federal, state
and foreign tax liabilities in 2003, which will increase
annually thereafter.

We believe that cash generated from operations and
funds from borrowings available under our senior secured
credit facilities will be sufficient to meet our expected oper-
ating needs, planned capital expenditures, debt service
and tax obligations for the foreseeable future. We are also
continually evaluating and pursuing acguisition opportuni-
ties in the consumer goods packaging market and may
incur additional indebtedness, including indebtedness
under our senior secured credit facilities, to finance any
such acquisition.

Our senior secured credit facilities and the indenture
with respect to the 3% Debentures contain restrictive
covenants that, among other things, limit our ability to incur
debt, sell assets and engage in certain transactions. We do
not expect these limitations to have a material effect on our
business or our results of operations. We are in compliance
with all financiat and operating covenants contained in our
financing agreements and believe that we will continue to
be in compliance during 2003 with all of these covenants.

Our contractual cash obligations at December 31, 2002
are provided below (without taking into account the recent
incremental term loan borrowings):

Payments Due By Period

2004- 2006-
Total 2003 2005 2007 Thereafter
Long-term debt $ 951.2 $20.2 $40.3 $40.3 $850.4
Minimum rental commitments 95.3 211 299 20.6 23.7
Total contractual cash obligations $1,046.5 $41.3 $70.2 $60.9 $874.1

At December 31, 2002, we also had outstanding letters
of credit of $17.3 million that were issued under our senior
secured credit facilities.

Taking into account the recent $150 million incremental
term loan borrowings, our total contractual cash obligations
increase by $1.5 million annually in 2003 through 2007 and
by $142.5 million in 2008.

Effect of Inflation and Interest Rate Fluctuations

Historically, inflation has not had a material effect on us,
other than to increase our cost of borrowing. In general, we
have been able to increase the sales prices of our products
to reflect any increases in the prices of raw materials.

Because we have indebtedness which bears interest at
floating rates, our financial results will be sensitive to
changes in prevailing market rates of interest. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2002, we had $951.2 million of indebtedness out-
standing, of which $73.3 million bore interest at floating
rates, after taking intc account interest rate swap agree-
ments that we entered into to mitigate the effect of interest
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rate fluctuations. Under these agreements, floating rate
interest based on the three ronth LIBOR rate was
exchanged for fixed rates cf interest ranging from 2.5 per-
cent to 6.4 percent. The aggregate notional principal
amounts of these agreements totals $375 million, with $125
million aggregate noticnal principal amount maturing in
2003 and $250 million aggregate notional principal amount
maturing in 2004. Depending upon market conditions, we
may enter into additional interest rate swap or hedge agree-
ments (with counterparties that, in our judgment, have suffi-
cient creditworthiness) to hedge our exposure against inter-
est rate volatility.

Rationalization (Credits) Charges and Acquisition Reserves

During 2001, we approved and announced to employ-
ees separate plans to exit our Northtown, Missouri and
Kingsburg, California metal food container facilities and to
cease operation of our compaosite container department at
our Waukegan, lllinois metal food container facility. These
plans included the termination of approximately 80 plant
employees, the termination of an operating lease and other
plant related exit costs, including equipment dismantle
costs. These decisions resulted in a rationalization charge
of $7.0 million. This charge consisted of $4.2 million for the
non-cash write-down in carrying value of assets, $1.4 mil-
lion for employee severance and benefits and $1.4 million
for plant exit costs.

During 2002, in order to support new business we
decided to continue to operate our Kingsburg facility and to
continue to utilize certain Northtown assets with carrying
values that were previously written down as part of this
rationalization charge. As a result, we recorded rationaliza-
tion credits totaling $2.8 million, which consisted of $2.2
million related to certain assets with carrying values that
were previously written down but remained in service and
$0.6 million for the reversal ¢f rationalization reserves
related to employee severance and benefits and plant exit
costs. The assets that remained in service were recorded in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets at their depreciated cost,
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which approximated fair value. Through December 31,
2002, a total of $2.0 million, excluding the non-cash write-
down, had been expended related to the rationalization
plans for our Northtown and Waukegan facilities, which
consisted of $0.8 million related to employee severance
and benefits and $1.2 million related to plant exit costs.
During 2002, all actions related to these rationalization
plans were completed at amounts less than originally
estimated, and, accordingly, we reversed $0.2 million of
rationalization reserves as a rationalization credit.

In addition, during 2002 we placed an additional $2.3
million of metal food container assets with carrying values
that were previously written down back in service. As a
result, we recorded $2.3 million as a rationalization credit
and recorded those assets in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets at their depreciated cost, which approximated fair
value,

During 2001, we approved and announced to employ-
ees a plan to exit our Fairfield, Ohio plastic container facility.
The plan included the termination of approximately 150
plant employees and other related plant exit costs, includ-
ing equipment dismantle costs and contractual rent obliga-
tions. This decision resuited in a rationalization charge of
$3.5 million, which consisted of $0.9 million for employee
severance and benefits and $2.6 million for plant exit costs.
Through December 31, 2002, a total of $1.7 million has
been expended relating to this plan. These expenditures
consisted of $0.7 million related tc employee severance
and benefits and $1.0 million for plant exit costs. During
2002, all actions under this plan related to employee sever-
ance and benefits were completed at amounts less than
originally estimated, and, accordingly, we reversed $0.2
million of rationalization reserves as a rationalization credit.
At December 31, 2002, this reserve had a balance of $1.6
million. Although we have closed the plant, the timing of
cash payments is dependent upon the expiration of a lease
obligation. Accordingly, cash payments related to closing
this facility are expected through 2009.

During 1999, we approved and announced to employ-
ees separate plans to exit our San Leandro and City of
Industry, California metal food container facilities. These
plans included the termination of approximately 130 plant
employees, termination of two cperating leases and other
plant related exit costs including equipment dismantle
costs and contractual rent obligations. These decisions




resulted in a rationalization charge of $11.9 million. This
charge consisted of $7.3 million for the non-cash write-
down in carrying value of assets, $2.2 million for employee
severance and benefits and $2.4 million for plant exit costs.
Through December 31, 2002, a total of $4.6 million, exclud-
ing the non-cash write-down, has been expended relating
to these plans. These expenditures consisted of $2.2 million
related to employee severance and benefits and $2.4 mil-
lion for plant exit costs. All actions under these plans have
been completed. During 2001, certain assets with carrying
values that were previously written down as part of this
rationalization charge were placed back in service. As a
result, we recorded a $1.2 million rationalization credit and
recorded those assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets
at their depreciated cost, which approximated fair value.
The timing of cash payments under these plans was pri-
marily dependent upon the resolution of various matters
with the lessor of one of the facilities.

Acquisition reserves established in connection with our
purchase of the Food Metal and Specialty Business of
American National Can Company in 1995 aggregating
approximately $49.5 million were recorded pursuant to
plans that we began to assess and formulate at the date of
the acquisition and which were finalized in 1996. These
reserves consisted of employee severance and benefits
costs ($26.1 million) for the termination of approximately
500 plant, selling and administrative employees, plant exit
costs ($6.6 million) related to the planned closure of the St.
Louis, Missouri plant, the downsizing of the Hoopeston, Illi-
nois and Savage, Minnesota facilities and the restructuring
of the St. Paul, Minnesota plant and liabilities incurred in
connection with the acquisition ($16.8 million). Through
December 31, 2002, a total of $47.6 million has been
expended related to these plans, which consisted of $25.3
million for employee severance and benefits, $5.5 million
for plant exit costs and $16.8 million for payment of acquisi-
tion related liabilities. At December 31, 2002, this reserve
had a balance of $1.9 million. Although we have completed
our plan, cash payments are expected to continue for pen-
sion obligations totaling $0.8 million which are required to
be paid pursuant to a labor agreement in place at the time
of acquisition and for the resolution of various environmen-
tal liabilities, estimated at $1.1 million, that existed at the

time of the acquisition. Accordingly, cash payments related
to these acquisition reserves are expected through 2004.

You should also read Note 3 to our Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2002
included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Critical Accounting Policies

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States require estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts in our consolidated financial statements
and the accompanying notes. Some of these estimates and
assumptions require difficult, subjective and/or complex
judgments. Critical accounting policies cover accounting
matters that are inherently uncertain because the future res-
olution of such matters is unknown. We believe that our
accounting policies for deferred income taxes, pension
expense and obligations and rationalization (credits)
charges and acquisition reserves reflect the more signifi-
cant judgments and estimates in our consolidated financial
statements. You should also read our Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2002 and
the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

At December 31, 2002, we had approximately $29.2 mil-
lion of deferred tax assets relating to $73.3 million of net
operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, that expire between
2012 and 2022, for which no valuation aiowance has been
established. We had NOLs of approximately $10.9 million
available to offset future consolidated taxable income
{excluding CS Can), and CS Can had NOLs of approxi-
mately $62.4 million available to offset its future taxable
income. We believe that it is more likely than not that these
NOLs will be available to reduce future income tax liabilities
based on estimated future taxable income, the reversal of
temporary differences in future periods and the utilization of
tax planning strategies. Current levels of consolidated pre-
tax earnings (excluding CS Can) are sufficient to generate
the taxable income required to realize our deferred tax
assets. Pre-tax earnings levels for CS Can would need to
increase from current levels to generate sufficient taxable
income to realize its deferred tax assets. We would reduce
our deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if it
became more likely than not that a portion of these NOLs
would not be utilized. If a valuation allowance were estab-
lished, additional expense would be recorded within the
provision for income taxes in our Consolidated Statements
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of Income in the period in which that determination was
made. This process requires the use of significant judgment
and estimates.

Our pension expense and obligations are developed
from actuarial valuations. Two critical assumptions in deter-
mining pension expense and obligations are the discount
rate and expected return on plan assets. We evaluate these
assumptions at least annually. Other assumptions reflect
demographic factors such as retirement, mortality and
turnover and are evaluated periodically and updated to
reflect our actual experience. Actual results may differ from
actuarial assumptions. The discount rate represents the
market rate for high-quality fixed income investments and is
used to calculate the present value of the expected future
cash flows for benefit obligaticns under our pension plans.
A decrease in the discount rate increases the present value
of benefit obligations and increases pension expense. A 50
basis point decrease in the discount rate would increase
our pension expense by approximately $1.1 million. For
2003, we reduced our discount rate from 7.25 percent to
7.0 percent to reflect market interest rate conditions. We
consider the current and expected asset allocations of our
pension plans, as well as historical and expected returns
on those types of plan assets, in determining the expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets. A 50 basis point
decrease in the expected return on plan assets would
increase our pension expense by approximately $0.6 mil-
lion. For 2002, 2001 and 2000, we assumed that the
expected return on our pension plan assets was 9.0 per-
cent.

Historically, we have maintained a strategy of acquiring
businesses and enhancing profitability through productivity
and cost reduction opportunities. Acquisitions require us to
estimate the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in the transactions. These estimates of fair value
are based on our business plans for the acquired entities,
which includes eliminating operating redundancies, facility
closings and rationalizations and assumptions as to the
ultimate resolution of liabilities assumed. We also continu-
ally evaluate the operating performance of our existing
facilities and our business requirements and, when deemed
appropriate, we exit or rationalize existing operating facili-
ties. Establishing reserves for acquisition plans and facility
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rationalizations requires the use of estimates. Although we
believe that these estimates accurately reflect the costs of
these plans, actual costs incurred may differ from these
estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 141,
“Business Combinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 revises the
accounting treatment for business combinations to require
the use of purchase accounting and prohibit the use of the
pooling-cf-interests method for business combinations initi-
ated after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 revises the
accounting for goodwill to eliminate amortization of goodwill
on transactions consummated after June 30, 2001 and of
all other goodwill as of January 1, 2002. As a result, we
stopped recording goodwill amortization as of January 1,
2002. Intangible assets with definite lives will continue to be
amortized over their useful lives. SFAS No. 142 also
requires goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite
lives to be reviewed for impairment each year and more fre-
quently if circumstances indicate a possible impairment.
During 2002, we completed our review and determined that
gocdwill was not impaired.

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.” SFAS No. 144 supercedes SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” and the
accounting and reporting provisions of Accounting Princi-
ples Board, or APB, Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results
of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Seg-
ment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infre-
guently Occurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS No. 144
provides updated guidance concerning the recognition
and measurement of an impairment loss for certain types of
long-lived assets and expands the scope of a discontinued
operation to include a component of an entity. The adoption
of SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002 did not impact our
financial position or results of operations.

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or FASB, issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB State-
ment No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” Among other pro-
visions, SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting
Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” and SFAS




No. 64, “Extinguishment of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-
Fund Requirements,” such that most gains or losses from
the extinguishment of debt will no longer be classified as
extraordinary items. The provisions of SFAS No. 145 related
to the rescission of SFAS No. 4 and SFAS No. 64 are effec-
tive for us on January 1, 2003. Upon adogption in 2003, we
expect to reclassify previously reported extraordinary items
from the loss on early extinguishment of debt to interest and
other debt expense.

in June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Account-
ing for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.”
SFAS No. 146 addresses accounting and reporting for
costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies
Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 94-3, “Lia-
bility Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits
and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).” SFAS No. 146 reqguires the
recognition of a liability for a cost associated with an exit or
disposal activity when the liability is incurred. Under EITF
Issue No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at
the date an entity committed to an exit plan. The provisions
of SFAS No. 146 are effective for exit or disposal activities
that are initiated after December 31, 2002.

Forward-Looking Statements

The statements we have made in “Management's Dis-
cussion and Analysis” and elsewhere in this Annual Report
which are not historical facts are “forward-looking state-
ments" made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These for-
ward-looking statements are made based upon manage-
ment's expectations and beliefs concerning future events
impacting us and therefore involve a number of uncertain-
ties and risks. Therefore, the actual results of our operations
or our financial condition could differ materially from those
expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements.
Important factors that could cause the actual results of our
operations or our financial condition to differ from those

expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements
include, but are not necessarily limited to:

o our ability to effect cost reduction initiatives and realize
benefits from capital investments;

o our ability to locate or acquire suitable acquisition candi-
dates that generate attractive cash returns and on
acceptable terms;

o our ability to assimilate the operations of our acquired
businesses into our existing operations;

o our ability to generate free cash flow to invest in our busi-
ness and service our indebtedness;

e limitations and restrictions contained in our instruments
and agreements governing our indebtedness;

e our ability to retain sales with our major customers;

e the size and quality of the vegetable and fruit harvests in
the midwest and west regions of the United States;

e changes in the pricing and availability to us of raw materi-
als or our ability generally to pass raw material price
increases through to our customers;

e changes in consumer preferences for different packaging
products;

o competitive pressures, including new product develop-
ments or changes in competitors' pricing for products;

o changes in governmental regulations or enforcement
practices;

o changes in general economic conditions, such as fluctua-
tions in interest rates and changes in energy costs (such
as natural gas and electricity);

e changes in labor relations and costs; and

o other factors described elsewhere in this Annual Report
or in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market risks relating to our operations result primarily
from changes in interest rates. In the normal course of busi-
ness, we also have limited foreign currency risk associated
with our Canadian and Mexican operations and risk related
to commodity price changes for items such as natural gas.
We employ established policies and procedures toc manage

our exposure to these risks. Interest rate, foreign currency
and commodity pricing transactions are used only to the
extent considered necessary to meet our objectives. We do
not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or
other speculative purposes.
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Interest Rate Risk. Our interest rate risk management
objective is to limit the impact of interest rate changes on
our net income and cash flow and to lower our overall bor-
rowing cost. To achieve our objectives, we regularly evalu-
ate the amount of our variable rate debt as a percentage of
our aggregate debt. During 2002 and 2001, our average
outstanding variable rate debt, after taking into account the
average outstanding notional amount of our interest rate
swap agreements, was 39 percent and 55 percent of our
total debt, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to
the issuance of $200 million principal amount of the 9%
Debentures in 2002. We manage a significant portion of our
exposure to interest rate fluctuations in our variable rate
debt through interest rate swap agreements. These agree-
ments effectively convert interest rate exposure from vari-
able rates to fixed rates of interest. We have entered into
these agreements with banks under the New Credit Agree-
ment or the U.S. Credit Agreement, and our obligations
under these agreements are guaranteed and secured on a
pari passu basis with our obligations under the New Credit
Agreement. You should also read Notes 4, 9 and 10 to our
Consclidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report which outline the principal and notional
amounts, interest rates, fair values and other terms required

to evaluate the expected cash flows from these agreements.

Based on the average outstanding amount of our vari-
able rate indebtedness in 2002, a one percentage point
change in the interest rates for our variable rate indebted-
ness would have impacted 2002 interest expense by an
aggregate of approximately $4.3 million, after taking into
account the average outstanding notional amount of our
interest rate swap agreemerts during 2002.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk. We do not con-
duct a significant portion of our manufacturing or sales
activity in foreign markets. Presently, our only foreign activi-
ties are conducted in Canada and Mexico. Since we do not
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have significant foreign operations, we do not believe it is
necessary to enter intc any derivative financial instruments
to reduce our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate
risk.

Because our Canadian subsidiary operates within its
local economic environment, we believe it is appropriate to
finance such operation with local currency borrowings. In
determining the amount of such borrowings, we evaluate
the operation’s business plans, tax implications, and the
availability of borrowings with acceptable interest rates and
terms. This strategy mitigates the risk of reported losses or
gains in the event that the Canadian currency strengthens
or weakens against the U.S. dollar. Furthermore, our Cana-
dian operating profit is used to repay its local borrowings or
is reinvested in Canada, and is not expected to be remitted
to us or invested elsewhere. As a result, it is not necessary
for us to mitigate the economic effects of currency rate fluc-
tuations on our Canadian earnings.

Commodity Pricing Risk. We purchase commaodities for
our products such as metal and resins. These commodities
are generally purchased pursuant to contracts or at market
prices established with the vendor. in general, we do not
engage in hedging activities for these commodities due to
our ability to pass on price changes to our customers.

We also purchase other commodities, such as natural
gas and electricity, and are subject to risks on the pricing of
these commodities. In general, we purchase these com-
modities pursuant to contracts or at market prices. We
manage up to a significant portion of our exposure to nat-
ural gas price fluctuations through natural gas swap agree-
ments. During 2002, we entered into natural gas swap
agreements to hedge approximately 80 percent of our
exposure to fluctuations in natural gas prices. At December
31, 2002, we had entered into natural gas swap agree-
ments to hedge approximately 40 percent of our expected
2003 exposure to fluctuations in natural gas prices. These
agreements effectively convert pricing exposure for natural
gas from market pricing to a fixed price. You should also
read Note 10 to our Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report which outlines the
terms necessary to evaluate these transactions.

Based on our natural gas usage in 2002, a ten percent
change in natural gas costs would have impacted our 2002
cost of goods sold by approximately $0.5 million, after tak-
ing into account the average outstanding notional amount
of our natural gas swap agreements.




Report of Management

The management of Silgan Heldings Inc. is responsible for the preparation and integrity of all information contained in this
Annual Report. The Company’s consclidated financial statements and other financial information are prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and, accordingly, include certain informed judgments and
estimates of management. The Company’s independent auditors have audited the consolidated financial statements as
described in their report which follows.

Management maintains a system of internal accounting and managerial controls which are designed to provide reason-
able assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and
accounting records are reliable for financial statement preparation.

An Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, consisting of directors who are not officers or employees of the
Company, meets periodically with management and the Company’s independent auditors to obtain assurances as to the
integrity of the Company's accounting and financial reperting and to affirm the adequacy of the system of accounting and
managerial controls in place. The Company's independent auditors have full, free and separate access to the Audit Commit-
tee to discuss all appropriate matters.

We believe that the Company’s policies and system of accounting and managerial controls reasonably assure the integrity
of the information in the consolidated financial statements and in the other sections of this Annual Report.

G 7l Doy oy

R. Philip Silver D. Greg Horrigan
Chairman of the Board and President and
Co-Chief Executive Officer Co-Chief Executive Officer

W

Anthony J. Allott
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Silgan Holdings Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Silgan Holdings Inc. as of December 31, 2002 and
2001, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity (deficiency) and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consoli-
dated financial position of Silgan Holdings Inc. at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the consolidated results of its opera-
tions and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 1o the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of account-
ing for goodwill and other intangible assets.

Stamford, Connecticut

January 28, 2003, except for the second
and third paragraphs of Note 20, as to
which the date is March 3, 2003 and for the
fourth paragraph of Note 20, as to which
the date is March 28, 20083.

28




Consolidated Balance Sheets

Silgan Holdings inc.

December 31, 2002 2001
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 58318 $ 18,009
Trade accounts receivable, less allowances
of $2,864 and $3,449, respectively 124,657 144,903
Inventories 272,836 262,627
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 13,988 12,053
Total current assets 469,799 437,592
Property, plant and equipment, net 705,746 677,542
Gooawill, net 141,481 141,465
Other assets 57,399 55,221
$ 1,374,425 $1,311,820
Liakilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt $ 20170 $ 57,999
Trade accounts payable 172,703 173,851
Accrued payroll and related costs 56,238 59,215
Accrued liabilities 15,825 26,653
Total current liabilities 264,936 317,718
Long-term debt 936,655 886,770
Other liabilities 109,742 92,184
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock ($0.01 par value per share;
100,000,000 shares authorized, 20,916,317 and
20,539,145 shares issued and 18,230,842 and
17,853,670 shares outstanding, respectively) 209 205
Paid-in capital 124,872 118,319
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 18,871 (34,937)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (20,467) (8,046)
Treasury stock at cost (2,685,475 shares) (60,393) (60,393)
Total stockholders’ equity 63,092 15,148
$1,374,425 $1,311,820

See notes to.consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income

Silgan Holdings Inc.

For the years ended December &1, 2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales $1,988,284 $1,940,994 $1,877,497
Cost of goods sold 1,749,731 1,700,708 1,648,247

Gross profit 238,553 240,286 229,250
Selling, general and administrative expenses 76,216 78,541 72,148
Raticnalization (credits) charges (5,603) 9,334 —

income from operations 167,940 152,411 157,102
Gain on assets contributed to affiliate — 4,908 —
Interest and other debt expense 73,789 81,192 91,178

Income before income taxes, equity in
losses of affiliates and extraordinary item 94,151 76,127 65,924
Provision for income taxes 37,190 30,222 25,790

Income before equity in losses of affiliates and

extraordinary item 56,961 45,905 40,134
Equity in losses of affiliates (2,554) (4,140) (4,610)
Income before extraordinary item 54,407 41,765 35,524
Extraordinary item - loss on early extinguishment
of debt, net of income taxes (599) — (4,216)
Net income $ 53,808 $ 41765 $ 31,308

Basic earnings per share:

Income before extraordinary item $ 3.00 3 2.35 3 2.01
Extraordinary item (0.03) — (0.24)
Basic net income per share: $ 297 $ 2.35 $ 1.77

Diluted earnings per share:

Income before extraordinary item $ 2.96 3 2.31 $ 1.97
Extraordinary item (0.03) — (0.23)
Diluted net income per share $ 293 $ 2.31 $ 1.74

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficiency)

Silgan Holdings Inc.

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Retained Accumulated Total
Common Stock Earnings Other Stockholders'
Par Pald-in (Accumulated Comprehensive  Treasury Equity
(Dolars and shares in thousands) Shares Value Capital Deficit) Loss Stock (Deficiency)
Balance at January 1, 2000 17,547 $201  $118,666 $(108,010) $ (273) $(59,318)  $(48,734)
Comprehensive income:
Net income — — — 31,308 — — 31,308
Minimum pension liability — — — — (797) — (797)
Fareign currency transtation — — — — (518) — (518)
Comprehensive income 29,993
Stock option exercises, including
tax provision of $826 256 3 (317) — —_ — (314)
Equity affiliate closing costs — — (250) — — — (250)
Repurchase of common stock (100) — — — — (1,075) (1,075)
Balance at December 31, 2000 17,703 204 118,099 (76,702) (1,588) (60,393) (20,380)
Comprehensive income:
Net income — — — 41,765 — — 41,765
Minimum pension liability, net of
tax benefit of $1,885 — —_ — — (1,966) — {1,966)
Change in fair value of
derivatives, net of tax
benefit of $2,151 — — — — (3,267) — (3,267)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (1,225) — (1,225)
Comprehensive income 35,307
Stock option exercises, including
tax benefit of $595 151 1 1,622 — — — 1,623
Dilution of investment in
equity affiliate — — (1,402) — — — (1,402)
Balance at December 31, 2001 17,854 205 118,319 (34,937) (8,046) (60,393) 15,148
Comprehensive income:
Net income — — — 53,808 — — 53,808
Minimum pension liability, net of
tax benefit of $8,336 — — — — (12,792) — (12,792)
Change in fair value of
derivatives, net of tax
provision of $314 — — — — 453 — 453
Foreign currency translation — — — — (82) — (82)
Comprehensive income 41,387
Stock option exercises, including
tax benefit of $2,254 377 4 6,553 — — — 6,557
Balance at December 31, 2002 18,231 $209  $124872 $ 18,871  $(20,467) $(60,393) $ 63,002

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Silgan Holdings Inc.

For the years ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in thousands)

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:
Net income $ 53808 $ 41,765 $ 31,308
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 94,936 89,772 84,577
Amortization of goodwill and cther intangibles 779 5,759 4,392
Amortization of debt issuance costs 2588 1,675 1,658
Rationalization (credits) charges (5,603) 9,334 —
Equity in losses of affiliates 4,222 4,140 4,610
Gain on assets contributed to affiliate — (4,908) —
Deferred income tax provision 25,219 13,852 11,749
Extraordinary item 983 — 6,926

Other changes that provided {used) cash,
net of effects of acquisitions:

Trade accounts receivable 20,246 19,179 (26,995)
Inventories (10,209) 1,220 (18,366)
Trade accounts payable (1,148) (34,293) 21,106
Accrued liabilities (12,273) 4,312 (19,610)
Other, net (10,255) (8,824) (6,210)
Net cash provided by operating activities 163,293 142,983 95,145
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities:
Investment in equity affiliate — (3,039) (7,026)
Proceeds from equity affiliate — 32,388 —
Acquisition of businesses — — (124,015)
Capital expenditures (119,160) (93,042) (89,227)
Proceeds from asset sales 1,915 3,901 1,789
Net cash used in investing activities (117,245) (59,792) (218,479)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:
Borrowings under revolving loans 1,163,580 710,749 1,198,459
Repayments under revolving loans (1,496,605) (746,719) (954,724)
Proceeds from stock option exercises 4,303 1,028 512
Repurchase of common stock — — (1,075)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 656,000 — —
Repayments of long-term debt (310,573) (50,313) (101,124)
Debt issuance costs (22,444) — (1,052)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (5,739) (85,255) 140,996
Cash and cash equivalents:
Net increase (decrease}) 40,309 (2,064) 17,662
Balance at beginning of year 18,009 20,073 2,411
Balance at end of year $ 58318 $ 18,009 $ 20,073
Interest paid $ 73,251 $ 85825 $ 91,200
Income taxes paid, net of refunds 14,374 8,308 13,352

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

32




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Silgan Holdings Inc.

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business

Silgan Holdings Inc., or Holdings, conducts its business
through its wholly owned operating subsidiaries, Silgan
Containers Corporation, or Containers, and Silgan Plastics
Corporation, or Plastics. We are engaged in the manufac-
ture and sale of steel and aluminum containers for human
and pet food and custom designed plastic containers and
closures for personal care, health care, pharmaceutical,
household and industrial chemical, food, pet care, agricul-
tural chemical, automotive and marine chemical products.
Principally all of our businesses are based in the United
States.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Holdings and its subsidiaries, all of which are
wholly owned. All significant intercompany transactions
have been eliminated. The preparation of consclidated
financial statements in conformity with accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States requires man-
agement to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompa-
nying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

The functional currency for our foreign operations is the
Canadian dollar. Balance sheet accounts of our foreign
subsidiaries are translated at exchange rates in effect at the
balance sheet date, while revenue and expense accounts
are translated at average rates prevailing during the year.
Translation adjustments are reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive l0ss.

Certain prior years' amounts have been reclassified to
conform with the current year's presentation,

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents represent short-term, highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible to cash and have
maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase.
The carrying values of these assets approximate their fair
values. As a result of our cash management system,
checks issued and presented to the banks for payment
may create negative cash balances. Checks outstanding in
excess of related cash balances totaling approximately
$88.3 million at December 31, 2002 and $74.8 million at
December 31, 2001 are included in trade accounts
payable.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market (net
realizable value) and the cost is principally determined on
the last-in, first-out basis, or LIFO.

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation. Major renewals and better-
ments that extend the life of an asset are capitalized and
repairs and maintenance expenditures are charged to
expense as incurred. Design and development costs for
molds, dies and other tools that we do not own and that will
be used to produce products that will be sold under long-
term supply arrangements are capitalized. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of depreciable assets. The principal estimated
useful lives are 35 years for buildings and range between 3
to 18 years for machinery and equipment. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the life of
the related asset or the life of the lease.

Interest incurred on amounts borrowed in connection
with the installation of major machinery and equipment
acquisitions is capitalized. Capitalized interest of $1.4 mil-
lion in 2002 and $1.6 million in 2001 was recorded as part
of the cost of the assets to which it relates and is amortized
over the assets’ estimated useful life.

Goodwill, Net

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 141, "Busi-
ness Combinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 revises the
accounting treatment for business combinations to require
the use of purchase accounting and prohibit the use of the
pooling-of-interests method for business combinations initi-
ated after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 revises the
accounting for goodwill to eliminate amortization of goodwill
on transactions consummated after June 30, 2001 and of
all other goodwill as of January 1, 2002. As a result, we
stopped recording goodwill amortization as of January 1,
2002. intangible assets with definite lives will continue to be
amortized over their useful lives.
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Net income and earnings per share would have been as
follows had the provisions of SFAS No. 142 been applied as
of January 1, 2000:

(Dollars in thousands,

except per share data) 2002 2001 2000
Net income:
Income before
extraordinary item  $54,407  $41,765  $35,524
Add back of goodwill
amortization — 3,017 2,561
Adjusted income before
extraordinary item 54,407 44,782 38,085
Extraordinary item (599) — (4,216)
Adjusted netincome  $53,808 $44,782  $33,869
Basic earnings per share:
Income before
extraordinaryitem $§ 300 $ 235 $ 2.01
Add back of goodwill
amortization — 0.17 .14
Adjusted income before
extraordinary item 3.00 252 $2.15
Extraordinary item (0.03) — (0.24)

Adjusted net income $ 297 $ 252 % 191

Diluted earnings per share:
income before
extraordinary item
Add back of goodwill
amortization — 0.17 0.14

$ 296 $ 231 ¢ 197

Adjusted income before
extraordinary item 2.96 2.48 2.11
Extraordinary item (0.03) — (0.23)

Adjusted netincome $ 293 $ 248 $ 1.88

SFAS No. 142 also requires goodwill and other intangi-
ble assets with indefinite lives to be reviewed for impair-
ment each year and more frequently if circumstances indi-
cate a possible impairment. During 2002, we completed
our review and determined that goodwill was not impaired.
Goodwill, net for our metal food container and plastic con-
tainer businesses was $47.7 million (net of accumulated
amortization of $14.7 million) and $93.8 million (net of accu-
mulated amortization of $10.9 million), respectively, at both
December 31, 2002 and 2001.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We assess long-lived assets, including intangible assets
with definite lives, for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of
the assets may not be fully recoverable. An impairment
exists if the estimate of future undiscounted cash flows gen-
erated by the assets is less than the carrying value of the
assets. If impairment is determined to exist, any related
impairment loss is then measured by comparing the fair
value of the assets to their carrying amount.

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.” SFAS No. 144 supercedes SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of," and the
accounting and reporting provisions of Accounting Princi-
ples Board, or APB, Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results
of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Seg-
ment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infre-
guently Occurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS No. 144
provides updated guidance concerning the recognition
and measurement of an impairment loss for certain types of
long-lived assets and expands the scope of a discontinued
operation to include a compenent of an entity. The adoption
of SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002 did not impact our
financial position or results of operations.

Other Assets

Other assets consist principally of debt issuance costs
which are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the related debt agreements (6 to 12 years), intan-
gible pension asset and investments in equity affiliates.

Hedging Instruments

We utilize certain derivative financial instruments to
manage a portion of our interest rate and natural gas cost
exposures. We do not engage in trading or other specula-
tive uses of these financial instruments. For a financial
instrument to gualify as a hedge, we must be exposed to
interest rate or price risk, and the financial instrument must
reduce the exposure and be designated as a hedge. Finan-
cial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting must
maintain a high correlation between the hedging instrument
and the item being hedged, both at inception and through-
out the hedged period.

Effective January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133,
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties,” as amended by SFAS No. 138. SFAS No. 133 requires
all derivative instruments to be recorded in the Consoli-
dated Balance Sheets at their fair values. Changes in the
fair value of derivatives will be recorded each period in




earnings or other comprehensive loss, depending on
whether a derivative is designated as part of a hedge trans-
action and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction. The adop-
tion of SFAS No. 133, as amended, did not have a signifi-
cant impact on our financial position or results of
operations.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the liability method
in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes.” Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized
inincome in the period of enactment of such change.
Income taxes are calculated for Holdings and the acquired
steel container manufacturing business of Campbell Soup
Company, or CS Can, on a separate return basis. U.S.
income taxes have not been provided on the accumulated
earnings of our foreign subsidiaries since these earnings
are expected to be permanently reinvested.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when goods are shipped and
the title and risk of loss pass to the customer. Shipping and
handling fees and costs incurred in connection with prod-
ucts sold are recorded in cost of goods sold in cur Consoli-
dated Statements of Income.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have two stock-based compensation plans. See
Note 14 for further discussion. We apply the recognition
and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related
interpretations in accounting for these plans. Accordingly,
no compensation expense for employee stock options is
recognized, as all options granted under these plans had
an exercise price that was equal to or greater than the mar-
ket value of the underlying stock on the date of the grant. if
we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensa-

tion,” for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, net income and basic and diluted earnings per share
would have been as follows:

(Dollars in thousands,
except per share data) 2002 2001 2000

Netincome, asreported  $53,808  $41,765  $31,308
Deduct: Total stock-based

employee compensation

expense determined un-

der fair value method for

all stock option awards,

net of income taxes 1,165 1,337 1,443

Pro forma net income $52,643 $40,428 $29,865

Earnings per share:
Basic netincome per

share-asreported $ 297 $ 235 § 177

Basic net income per
share - pro forma 2.80 2.27 1.69

Diluted net income per
share - as reported 2.93 2.31 1.74

Diluted net income per
share - pro forma 2.88 2.26 1.69

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or FASB, issued SFAS No. 145, "Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB State-
ment No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” Among other pro-
visions, SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting
Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” and SFAS
No. 84, “Extinguishment of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-
Fund Requirements,” such that most gains or losses from
the extinguishment of debt will no fonger be classified as
extraordinary items. The provisions of SFAS No. 145 related
to the rescission of SFAS No. 4 and SFAS No. 64 are effec-
tive for us on January 1, 2003. Upon adoption in 2003, we
expect to reclassify previously reported extraordinary items
from the loss on early extinguishment of debt to interest and
other debt expense.

In June 2002, the FASE issued SFAS No. 146, “Account-
ing for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities."
SFAS No. 146 addresses accounting and reporting for
costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies
Emerging issues Task Force, or EITF, issue No. 84-3, "Lia-
bility Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits
and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).” SFAS No. 146 requires the
recognition of a liability for a cost associated with an exit or
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disposal activity when the liability is incurred. Under EITF
Issue No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at
the date an entity commitied to an exit plan. The provisions
of SFAS No. 146 are effective for exit or disposal activities
that are initiated after December 31, 2002.

Note 2. Acquisitions

On October 1, 2000, we acquired all of the outstanding
capital stock of RXI Holdings, Inc., or RXi Plastics, a manu-
facturer and seller of rigid plastic packaging, for $124.0 mil-
lion in cash. We financed the purchase price through
revolving loan borrowings under our previous U.S. senior
secured credit facility. The acquisition was accounted for
using the purchase methed of accounting. Accordingly, the
purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their fair values at the
date of acquisition, and RXI Plastics’ results of cperations
have been included in our consolidated operating results
from the date of acquisition.

See Note 20 which includes a discussion of acquisitions
subsequent to December 31, 2002.

Note 3. Rationalization (Credits) Charges and

Acguisition Reserves

2001 Rationalization Plans

During 2001, we approved and announced to employ-
ees separate plans to exit our Northtown, Missouri and
Kingsburg, California metal food container facilities and to
cease operation of our composite container department at
our Waukegan, lllinois metal food container facility. These
plans included the termination of approximately 80 plant

employees, the termination of an operating lease and other
plant related exit costs, including equipment dismantle
costs. These decisions resulted in a rationalization charge
of $7.0 million. This charge consisted of $4.2 million for the
non-cash write-down in carrying value of assets, $1.4 mil-
lion for employee severance and benefits and $1.4 million
for plant exit costs.

During 2002, in order to support new business we
declided to continue to operate our Kingsburg facility and to
continue to utilize certain Northtown assets with carrying
values that were previously written down as part of this
rationalization charge. As a result, we recorded rationaliza-
tion credits totaling $2.8 million, which consisted of $2.2
million related to certain assets with carrying values that
were previously written down but remained in service and
$0.6 million for the reversal of rationalization reserves
related to employee severance and benefits and plant exit
costs. The assets that remained in service were recorded in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets at their depreciated cost,
which approximated fair value. Through December 31,
2002, a total of $2.0 million, excluding the non-cash write-
down, had been expended related to the rationalization
plans for our Northtown and Waukegan facilities, which
consisted of $0.8 million related to employee severance
and benefits and $1.2 million related to plant exit costs.
During 2002, all actions related to these rationalization
plans were completed at amounts less than originally
estimated, and, accordingly, we reversed $0.2 million of
rationalization reserves as a rationalization credit.

Activity in our Northtown, Kingsburg and Waukegan
plant rationalization reserve, excluding the non-cash write-
down and related credits, is summarized as follows:

Employee Plant

Severance Exit Acquisition
{Dollars in thousands) and Benefits Costs Liabilities Total
Balance at December 31, 2000 $ — $ — $— 8 —
2001 Rationalization Charge 1,421 1,425 — 2,846
2001 Utilized (88) (26) — (114)
Balance at December 31, 2001 1,333 1,399 — 2,732
2002 Rationalization Credits (605) (262) —_ (867)
2002 Utilized (728) (1,137) — (1,865)
Balance at December 31, 2002 3 — $ — $— $ —

During 2001, we approved and announced to employ-
ees a plan to exit our Fairfield, Ohio plastic container facility.
The plan included the termination of approximately 150
plant employees and other related plant exit costs, includ-
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ing equipment dismantle costs and contractual rent obliga-
tions. This decision resulted in a rationalization charge of
$3.5 million, which consisted of $0.9 million for employee
severance and benefits and $2.6 million for plant exit costs.
Through December 31, 2002, a total of $1.7 million has
been expended relating to this plan. These expenditures
consisted of $0.7 million related to employee severance




and benefits and $1.0 million for plant exit costs. During
2002, all actions under this plan related to employee sever-
ance and benefits were completed at amounts less than
originally estimated, and, accordingly, we reversed $0.2
million of rationalization reserves as a rationalization credit.
At December 31, 2002, this reserve had a balance of $1.6

million. Although we have closed the plant, the timing of
cash payments is dependent upon the expiration of a lease
obligation. Accordingly, cash payments related to closing
this facility are expected through 2009.

Activity in our Fairfield plant rationalization reserve is
summarized as follows:

Employee Plant

Severance Exit Acquisition
(Dollars in thousands) and Benefits Costs Liabilities Total
Balance at December 31, 2000 3 — $ — $— $ —
2001 Rationalization Charge 874 2,616 — 3,490
2001 Utilized (637) (749) — (1,386)
Balance at December 31, 2001 237 1,867 — 2,104
2002 Rationalization Credit (237) — — (237)
2002 Utilized — (273) — (273)
Balance at December 31, 2002 $ — $1,594 $— $ 1,594

1999 Rationalization Plans

During 1999, we approved and announced to employ-
ees separate plans to exit our San Leandro and City of
Industry, California metal food container facilities. These
plans included the termination of approximately 130 plant
employees, termination of two operating leases and other
plant related exit costs including equipment dismantle
costs and contractual rent obligations. These decisions
resulted in a rationalization charge of $11.9 million. This
charge consisted of $7.3 million for the non-cash write-
down in carrying value of assets, $2.2 million for employee
severance and benefits and $2.4 million for plant exit costs.
Through December 31, 2002, a total of $4.6 million, exclud-
ing the non-cash write-down, has been expended relating
to these plans. These expenditures consisted of $2.2 million

related to employee severance and benefits and $2.4 mil-
lion for plant exit costs. All actions under these plans have
been completed. During 2001, certain assets with carrying
values that were previously written down as part of this
rationalization charge were placed back in service. As a
result, we recorded a $1.2 million rationalization credit and
recorded those assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets
at their depreciated cost, which approximated fair value.
The timing of cash payments under these plans was pri-
marily dependent upon the resolution of various matters
with the lessor of one of the facilities.

Activity in our San Leandro and City of Industry plant
rationalization reserve, excluding the non-cash write down
and related credit, is summarized as follows:

Employee Plant

Severance Exit Acquisition
(Dollars in thousands) and Benefits Costs Liabilities Total
Balance at December 31, 1999 $ 1,792 $ 2,332 $— $ 4,124
2000 Utilized (1,792) (1,726) — (3,518)
Balance at December 31, 2000 — 606 — 606
2001 Utilized — (409) — (409)
Balance at December 31, 2001 — 197 — 197
2002 Utilized — (197) — (197)
Balance at December 31, 2002 3 — $ — $— $ —
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Acquisition Reserves

Acquisition reserves established in connection with our
purchase of the Food Metal and Specialty Business of
American National Can Company, or AN Can, in 1995
aggregating approximately $49.5 million were recorded
pursuant to plans that we began to assess and formulate at
the date of the acquisition and which were finalized in 1996.
These reserves consisted of employee severance and ben-
efits costs ($26.1 million) for the termination of approxi-
mately 500 plant, selling and administrative employees,
plant exit costs ($6.6 million) related to the planned closure
of the St. Louis, Missouri plant, the downsizing of the
Hoopeston, lllinois and Savage, Minnesota facilities and the
restructuring of the St. Paul, Minnesota plant and liabilities
incurred in connection with the acquisition ($16.8 million).
Through December 31, 2002, a total of $47.6 million has

been expended related to these plans, which consisted of
$25.3 million for employee severance and benefits, $5.5
miltion for plant exit costs and $16.8 million for payment of
acquisition related liabilities. At December 31, 2002, this
reserve had a balance of $1.9 million. Although we have
completed our plan, cash payments are expected to con-
tinue for pension obligations totaling $0.8 million which are
required to be paid pursuant to a labor agreement in place
at the time of acquisition and for the resolution of various
environmental liabilities, estimated at $1.1 million, that
existed at the time of the acquisition. Accordingly, cash
payments related to these acquisition reserves are
expected through 2004.

Activity in our AN Can acquisition reserves is summa-
rized as follows:

Employee Plant
Severance Exit Acquisition

(Dollars in thousands) and Benefits Costs Liabilities Total

Balance at December 31, 1999 $2,555 $ 4,451 $ 6,704 $13,710
2000 Utilized (191) (1,829) (2,704) (4,724)
Balance at December 31, 2000 2,364 2,622 4,000 8,986
2001 Utilized (873) (645) (2,000) (3,518)
Balance at December 31, 2001 1,491 1,977 2,000 5,468
2002 Utilized (744) (858) (2,000) (3,602)
Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 747 $ 1,119 $§ — $ 1,866

Summary

In addition to the previously discussed rationalization
credits and charges, during 2002 we placed an additional
$2.3 million of metal food container assets with carrying val-
ues that were previously written down back in service. As a
result, we recorded $2.3 million as a rationalization credit
and recorded those assets in our Consclidated Balance
Sheets at their depreciated cost, which approximated fair
value.
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Rationalization {credits) and charges for the years
ended December 31 are summarized as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Northtown, Kingsburg,

Waukegan $(3.041)  $7,0383 $—
Fairfield (237) 3,490 —
San Leandro, City of Industry — (1,189) —
Other assets (2,325) — —

$(5,603) $9,334 $—




At December 31, 2002 and 2001, rationalization and
acquisition reserves were included in our Consolidated Bal-
ance Sheets as follows:

{Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001
Accrued liabilities $1,813 § 8,492
Other liabilities 1,647 2,009

$3,460 $10,501

Note 4. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is reported in
our Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Defi-
ciency). Amounts included in accumulated other compre-
hensive loss at December 31 are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001
Foreign currency transliation $ (1,998) $(1,916)
Change in fair value of derivatives (2,814) (3,267)
Minimum pension liability (15,655) (2,863)
Accumulated other
comprehensive loss $(20,467)  $(8,046)

The amount reclassified to earnings from the change in
fair value of derivatives component of accumulated other
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2002
and December 31, 2001 was net losses of $5.0 million and
$2.7 million, net of income taxes, respectively. For the year
ended December 31, 2001, the change in fair value of
derivatives component of accumulated other comprehen-
sive loss is comprised of a $0.1 million charge, net of
income taxes, for the cumulative effect of adopting SFAS
No. 133 and an additional charge of $3.2 million, net of both
income taxes and net losses reclassified to earnings, for
the change in fair value of derivatives.

We estimate that we will reclassify $2.3 million, net of
income taxes, of the change in fair value of derivatives
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss as a
charge to earnings during the next twelve months. The
actual amount that will be reclassified to earnings will vary
from this amount as a result of changes in market condi-
tions. See Note 10 which includes a discussion of hedging
activities.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the foreign cur-
rency translation and minimum pension liability compo-
nents of accumulated other comprehensive loss included
$0.4 million and $5.6 million, respectively, related to our
equity investment in Amcor White Cap LLC.

Note 5. Inventories
The components of inventories at December 31 are as

follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001

Raw materials $ 31,925 $ 28,032

Work-in-process 50,941 45510
Finished goods 171,341 168,362
Spare parts and other 13,944 13,698
268,151 255,602

Adjustment to value inventory
at cost on the LIFO method 4,685 7,025

$272,836 $262,627

The amount of inventory recorded on the first-in, first-out
method at December 31, 2002 and 2001 was $23.6 million
and $22.3 million, respectively.

Note 6. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment, net, at December 31 is
as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001

Land $ 7943 § 7,869
Buildings and improvements 135,499 128,815

Machinery and equipment 1,120,617 1,055,207

Construction in progress 80,626 56,504

1,344,685 1,248,395
Accumulated depreciation (638,939) (570,853)
Property, plant and equipment,
net $ 705746 $ 677,542
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Note 7. Other Assets
Other assets at December 31 are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001
Debt issuance costs $31,121  $13,727
Intangible pension asset 10,349 10,855
Investments in equity affiliates

(see Note 8) 457 14,342
Other 21,327 22,783
63,254 61,707
Accumulated amortization {5,855) (6,486)
$57.399  $55,221

Note 8. Investments in Equity Alfiliates

Amcor White Cap LLC

Effective July 1, 2001, we formed a joint venture com-
pany with Schmalbach-Lubeca AG that is a leading sup-
plier of an extensive range of metal and plastic closures to
consumer goods packaging companies in the food and
beverage industries in North America. The venture oper-
ates under the name Amcor White Cap LLC, or White Cap.
We contributed $48.4 million of metal closure assets,
including our manufacturing facilities in Evansville and
Richmond, indiana, and $7.1 million of metal closure liabili-
ties to White Cap in return for a 35 percent interest in and
$32.4 million of cash proceeds from the joint venture. Net
sales of our metal closure business, which was contributed
to the White Cap joint venture, totaled $46.3 million and
$90.8 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Schmalbach-
Lubeca AG contributed the remaining metal and plastic
closure operations to the jcint venture. in July 2002, Amcor
Ltd. purchased Schmalbach-Lubeca AG's interest in the
joint venture.

We account for our investment in the White Cap joint
venture using the equity method. During 2002, we recorded
equity in tosses of White Cap of $2.6 million, net of income
taxes. As part of the integration of the contributed busi-
nesses, the White Cap joint venture instituted a program to
rationalize its operations. As a result, our equity in losses of
White Cap for 2002 included $2.0 million, net of income
taxes, for our portion of White Cap’s rationalization charge
to close its Chicago, lllinois metal closure manufacturing
facility and $0.7 million, net of income taxes, for our portion
of White Cap’s gain on the sale of certain assets at a price
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in excess of book value. During 2001, we recorded equity
in losses of White Cap of $0.3 million and a gain on the
assets contributed to the joint venture of $4.9 million.

In March 2003, we acquired the remaining 65 percent
equity interest in the White Cap joint venture that we did not
already own. See Note 20 which includes a discussion of
the acquisition.

Packtion Corporation

In April 2000, we, together with Morgan Stanley Private
Equity and Diamondcluster International Inc., agreed to
invest in Packtion Corporation, or Packtion, an e-commerce
joint venture aimed at integrating the packaging supply
chain from design through manufacturing and procure-
ment. The parties agreed to make the investments through
Packaging Markets LLC, a limited liability company. The
joint venture was expected to provide a comprehensive
online marketplace for packaging goods and services and
to combine content, tools and collaboration capabilities to
streamline the product development process and enhance
transaction opportunities for buyers and sellers of packag-
ing. The products that Packtion was developing included a
web-based software tool to enable product and package
design, development and collaboration; an internet-based
secure environment enabling the sharing of packaging
related product information and the transaction of business
electronically; and an informational scurce of packaging
related knowledge, tools and expert services. Packtion had
insignificant sales for internet consulting services and
incurred net losses. We accounted for our investment in
Packtion using the equity method.

In June and August 2000, we invested a total of $7.0 mil-
lion in Packtion representing approximately a 45 percent
interest in Packtion. For the year ended December 31,
2000, we recorded equity in losses of Packtion aggregating
$4.6 million. In addition, we recorded our share of Pack-
tion’s closing costs, $0.2 million, as a reduction to our
investment. In the first quarter of 2001, in connection with
an investment by The Proctor & Gamble Company and E. .
Du Pont de Nemours & Co. in Packtion, we invested an
additional $3.1 million bringing our total investment to $10.1
million representing approximately a 25 percent interest in
Packtion. In connection with this transaction, we also
recorded a reduction to paid-in capital of $1.4 million due to
the dilution of our investment. Packtion was dissolved on
May 31, 2001, after its board of directors determined that
there had been slower than anticipated market acceptance
of its business. During 2001, we recorded equity in losses
of Packtion aggregating $3.8 million, which included our
final losses and eliminated our investment.




Note 9. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt at December 31 is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001
Bank debt:
Bank revolving loans $ — $333,025
Bank A term loans 100,000 119,413
Bank B term ioans 348,250 186,588
Canadian Bank Facility — 2,639
Total bank debt 448,250 641,665
Subordinated debt:
9% Senior Subordinated
Debentures 505,575 300,000
Other 3,000 3,104
Total subordinated debt 508,575 303,104
Total debt 956,825 044,769
Less current portion 20,170 57,999

$936,655 $886,770

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt at
December 31, 2002 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2003 $ 20,170
2004 20,170
2005 20,170
2006 20,170
2007 20,170
Thereafter 850,400

$951,250

Bank Credit Agreement

On June 28, 2002, we completed the refinancing of our
previous U.S. senior secured credit facility, or the U.S.
Credit Agreement, by entering into a new $850 million
senior secured credit facility, or the New Credit Agreement.
The New Credit Agreement provided us with $100 million of
A term loans and $350 million of B term loans and also pro-
vides us with up to $400 million of revolving loans. Pursuant
to the New Credit Agreement, we aiso have a $275 million

incremental uncommitted term loan facility. See Note 20
which includes a discussion of borrowings under the incre-
mental term loan facility subsequent to December 31, 2002,

The A term loans and revolving loans mature on June
28, 2008 and the B term loans mature on November 30,
2008. Principal on the A term loans and B term loans is
required to be repaid in scheduled annual instaliments.
During 2002, we repaid $1.8 million of B term loans under
the New Credit Agreement. During 2002 and 2001, we
repaid $119.4 million and $39.8 million, respectively, of A
term loans and $186.6 million and $2.0 million, respectively,
of B term loans under the U.S. Credit Agreement. The New
Credit Agreement requires us to prepay term loans with
proceeds received from the incurrence of indebtedness,
except proceeds used to refinance other existing indebted-
ness; with proceeds received from certain assets sales;
and, under certain circumstances, with 50 percent of our
excess cash flow. Generally, prepayments are allocated pro
rata to the A term loans and B term loans and applied first
to the scheduled amortization payments in the year of such
prepayments and, to the extent in excess thereof, pro rata
to the remaining installments of term loans.

The incremental uncommitted term loan facility pro-
vides, among other things, that any incremental term loan
borrowing shall be denominated in a single currency, either
U.S. dollars or certain foreign currencies; have a maturity
date no earlier than the maturity date for the B term loans;
and be used to finance permitted acquisitions, refinance
any indebtedness assumed as part of a permitted acquisi-
tion, refinance or repurchase subordinated debt and repay
outstanding revolving loans.

Revolving loans may be used for working capital needs
and other general corporate purposes, including acquisi-
tions. Revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and rebor-
rowed over the life of the New Credit Agreement until their
final maturity. We are required to maintain, for at least one
period of 30 consecutive days during each calendar year,
total average unutilized revolving loan commitments of at
least $20 million. At December 31, 2002, there were no
revolving loans outstanding and, after taking into account
letters of credit of $16.9 million, borrowings available under
the revolving credit facility of the New Credit Agreement
were $383.1 million.

Borrowings under the New Credit Agreement may be
designated as base rate or Eurodoilar rate borrowings. The
base rate is the higher of the prime iending rate of
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas or % of one per-
cent in excess of the overnight federal funds rate. Initially,
the interest rate for all loans under the New Credit Agree-
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ment is the base rate plus a margin of one percent or the
Eurodollar rate plus a margin of two percent. After Decem-
ber 31, 2002, the interest rate margin on base rate and
Eurodollar rate borrowings will be reset quarterly based
upon our total leverage ratio, as defined in the New Credit
Agreement. As of December 31, 2002, the interest rate for
Eurodollar rate borrowings was 3.4 percent. There were no
base rate borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2002.
For 2002, 2001 and 2000, the weighted average annual
interest rate paid on term lcans was 4.0 percent, 6.0 per-
cent and 7.8 percent, respectively; and the weighted aver-
age annual interest rate paid on revolving loans was 3.3
percent, 5.3 percent and 7.5 percent, respectively. We have
entered into interest rate swap agreements with an aggre-
gate notional amount of $375 million to convert interest rate
exposure from variable rates to fixed rates of interest. See
Note 10 which includes a discussion of the interest rate
swap agresments.

The New Credit Agreement provides for the payment of
a commitment fee ranging from 0.25 percent to 0.50 per-
cent per annum on the daily average unused portion of
commitments available under the revalving loan facility. ini-
tially, the commitment fee is 0.50 percent per annum. After
December 31, 2002, the commitment fee will be reset quar-
terly based on our tota! leverage ratio.

We may utilize up to a maximum of $50 million of our
revolving loan facility under the New Credit Agreement for
letters of credit as long as the aggregate amount of borrow-
ings of revolving loans and letters of credit do not exceed
the amount of the commitment under such revolving loan
facility. The New Credit Agreement provides for payment to
the applicable lenders of a letter of credit fee equal to the
applicable margin in effect for revolving loans maintained
as Eurodollar rate loans (two percent at December 31,
2002) and to the issuers of letters of credit of a facing fee of
. of one percent per annum, calculated on the aggregate
stated amount of all letters of credit.

The indebtedness under the New Credit Agreement is
guaranteed by Holdings and certain of its U.S. subsidiaries
and is secured by a security interest in substantially all of
our real and personal propesty. The stock of certain of our
U.S. subsidiaries has also been pledged as security o the
lenders under the New Credit Agreement. At December 31,
2002, we had assets of a U.S. subsidiary of $139.0 million
which were restricted and could not be transferred to
Holdings or any other subsidiary of Holdings. The New
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Credit Agreement contains certain financial and operating
covenants which limit, among other things, our ability and
the ability of our subsidiaries to grant liens, sell assets and
use the proceeds from certain asset sales, make certain
payments (including dividends) on our capital stock, incur
indebtedness or provide guarantees, make loans or invest-
ments, enter into transactions with affiliates, make certain
capital expenditures, engage in any business other than
the packaging business, and, with respect to our sub-
sidiaries, issue stock. In addition, we are required to meet
specified financial covenants including interest coverage
and total leverage ratios, each as defined in the New Credit
Agreement. We are currently in compliance with all
covenants under the New Credit Agreement.

Because we sell metal containers used in fruit and veg-
etable pack processing, we have seasonal sales. Asis
common in the industry, we must access working capital to
build inventory and then carry accounts receivable for
some customers beyond the end of the summer and fall
packing season. Seasonal accounts are generally settled
by year end. Due to our seasonal requirements, we incur
shart-term indebtednass to finance our warking capital
requirements. For 2002, 2001 and 2000, the average
amount of revolving loans outstanding, including seasonal
borrowings, was $258.8 million, $497.0 million and $339.5
million, respectively; and, after taking into account out-
standing letters of credit, the highest amount of such bor-
rowings was $485.3 million, $584.3 million and $529.9 mil-
lion, respectively.

As a result of refinancing our U.S. Credit Agreement, we
recorded an extraordinary charge of $0.6 million, net of
income taxes, or $0.03 per diluted share, in 2002 for the
write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs related to the
U.S. Credit Agreement.

Canadian Bank Facility

Through a wholly owned Canadian subsidiary, we have
a Canadian bank facility, or the Canadian Bank Facility,
with various Canadian banks. The Canadian Bank Facility
initially provided our Canadian subsidiaries with Cdn. $26.5
million (U.S. $18.5 million) of term loans, and provides such
subsidiaries with up to Cdn. $6.5 million (U.S. $4.5 millicn)
of revolving loans. At December 31, 2002, there were no
term loans outstanding under the Canadian Bank Facility.
During 2002 and 2001, we repaid Cdn. $4.2 million (U.S.
$2.6 million) and Cdn. $12.8 million (U.S. $8.2 miltion),
respectively, of term loans under the Canadian Bank
Facility.




Revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and rebor-
rowed until maturity on December 31, 2003. There were no
revolving loans outstanding under the Canadian Bank
Facility at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001,

Revolving loan and term loan borrowings may be desig-
nated as Canadian Prime Rate or Bankers Acceptance bor-
rowings. Currently, Canadian Prime Rate borrowings bear
interest at the Canadian Prime Rate, as defined in the
Canadian Bank Facility, plus no margin. Bankers Accep-
tance borrowings bear interest at the rate for bankers
acceptances plus a margin of one percent. Similar to the
New Credit Agreement, the interest rate margin on both
Canadian Prime Rate and Bankers Acceptance borrowings
will be reset quarterly based upon our consolidated total
leverage ratio.

The indebtedness under the Canadian Bank Facility is
guaranteed by Holdings and certain of its subsidiaries and
is secured by a security interest in substantially all of the
real and perscnal property of our Canadian subsidiaries
and all of the stock of our Canadian subsidiaries. The Cana-
dian Bank Facility contains covenants which are generally
no more restrictive than and are generally similar to the
covenants in the New Credit Agreement.

9% Senior Subordinated Debentures

On April 29, 2002, we issued an additional $200 miflicn
aggregate principal amount of our 9% Senior Subordinated
Debentures due 2008, or the 9% Debentures. The newly
issued 9% Debentures were an add-on issuance under the
indenture for our existing 9% Debentures originally issued
in June 1997 and have identical terms to the existing 9%
Debentures. The issue price for the new 9% Debentures
was 103% of their principal amount (effective interest rate of
8.4 percent). Net cash proceeds received from this
issuance were approximately $202 million, after deducting
selling commissions and offering expenses payable by us.
The net proceeds from this issuance were used to repay a
portion of our revolving loan obligations under the U.S.
Credit Agreement.

The $500 million aggregate principal amount of the 9%
Debentures are general unsecured obligations of Holdings,
subordinate in right of payment to obligations under the
New Credit Agreement and the Canadian Bank Fagcility and

effectively subordinate to all obligations of the subsidiaries
of Holdings. Interest on the 9% Debentures is payable
semi-annually in cash on the first day of each June and
December.

The 9% Debentures are redeemable, at the option of
Holdings, in whole or in part, at any time after June 1, 2002
at the following redemption prices (expressed in percent-
ages of principal amount) plus accrued and unpaid interest
thereon to the redemption date if redeemed during the
twelve month period beginning June 1 of the years set forth
below:

Year Redemption Price
2002 104.500%
2003 103.375%
2004 102.250%
2005 101.125%
Thereafter 100.000%

Upon the occurrence of a change of control, as defined
in the indenture relating to the 9% Debentures, Holdings is
required to make an offer to purchase the 9% Debentures
at a purchase price equal to 101% of their principal
amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of
purchase.

The indenture relating to the 9% Debentures contains
covenants which are generally less restrictive than those
under the New Credit Agreement and Canadian Bank
Facility.

13%:% Subordinated Debentures

In December 2000, we redeemed all $56.2 million prin-
cipal amount of our outstanding 13%% Subordinated
Debentures due 2008, or the 13%% Debentures. The
redemption price was 109.938% of the principal amount, or
approximately $61.8 million, plus accrued and unpaid inter-
est to the redemption date. As permitted under the U.S.
Credit Agreement and the other documents governing our
indebtedness, we funded the redemption with lower cost
revolving loans under the U.S. Credit Agreement. As a
result, in 2000, we recorded an extraordinary loss of $4.2
million, net of income taxes, or $0.23 per diluted share, for
the premium paid in connection with this redemption and
for the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs related
to the 13%% Debentures.
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Note 10. Financial Instruments

The financial instruments recorded in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, debt obligations
and swap agreements. Due to their short-term maturity, the
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair
market value. The following table summarizes the carrying
amounts and estimated fair values of our other financial
instruments at December 31 (bracketed amounts represent

assets):
2002 2001
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(Dollars in thousands) Amount Value Amount Value
Bank debt $448,250 $448,250 $641,665 $641,665
Subordinated
debt 505,575 518,750 300,000 305,250

Interest rate swap
agreements 6,526 6,526 5,037 5,037
Natural gas swap

agreements (569) (569) 1,768 1,768

Methods and assumptions used in estimating fair values
are as follows:

Bank debt: The carrying amounts of our variable rate
bank revolving loans and term loans approximate their fair
values.

Subordinated debt: The fair value of our 9% Debentures is
estimated based on quoted market prices.

Interest Rate and Natural Gas Swap Agresments: Tne fair
value of the interest rate and natural gas swap agreements
reflects the estimated amounts that we would pay or receive
at December 31, 2002 and 2001 in order to terminate the
contracts based on the present value of expected cash
flows derived from market rates and prices.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We utilize certain derivative financial instruments to
manage a portion of our interest rate and natural gas cost
exposures. We limit our use of derivative financial instru-
ments 1o interest rate and natural gas swap agreements.
We do not utilize derivative financial instruments for specu-
lative purposes.
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Our interest rate and natural gas swap agreements are
accounted for as cash flow hedges. To the extent these
swap agreements are effective pursuant to SFAS No. 133 in
offsetting the variability of the hedged cash flows, changes
in their fair values are recorded in accumulated other com-
prehensive loss, a component of stockholders’ equity, and
reclassified into earnings in future periods when earnings
are also affected by the variability of the hedged cash
flows. To the extent these swap agreements are not effec-
tive as hedges, changes in their fair values are recorded in
net income. During each of 2002 and 2001, ineffectiveness
for our hedges reduced net income by $0.2 million and was
recorded primarily in interest and other debt expense in our
Consolidated Statements of Income.

The fair value of the outstanding swap agreements in
effect at December 31, 2002 and 2001 was recorded in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets as a net liability of $6.0 mil-
lion ($5.6 million in other liabilities, $0.9 million in accrued
interest payable and $0.5 million in other assets) and $6.8
million ($6.7 million in other liabilities, $1.1 million in
accrued interest payable and $1.0 million in other assets),
respectively. See Note 4 which includes a discussion of the
effects of hedging activities on accumulated other compre-
hensive loss.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

We have entered into interest rate swap agreements
with major banks to manage a portion of our exposure to
interest rate fluctuations. The interest rate swap agreements
effectively convert interest rate exposure from variable rates
to fixed rates of interest. At December 31, 2002 and 2001,
the aggregate notional principal amount of these agree-
ments was $375 million and $275 million, respectively.
These agreements are with financial institutions which are
expected to fully perform under the terms thereof.

Under these agreements, we pay fixed rates of interest
ranging from 2.5 percent to 6.4 percent and receive floating
rates of interest based on three month LIBOR. These agree-
ments mature in 2003 ($125 million notional principal
amount) and 2004 ($250 million notional principal amount).
The difference between amounts to be paid or received on
interest rate swap agreements is recorded as interest
expense. Net payments of $7.2 million, net payments of
$2.0 million and net receipts of $0.6 million were made
under these interest rate swap agreements for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
During 2002, interest rate swap agreements for an aggre-
gate notional principal amount of $100 million expired. No
interest rate swap agreements expired during 2001,




Natural Gas Swap Agreements

We have entered into natural gas swap agreements with
major financial institutions to manage a portion of our expo-
sure to fluctuations in natural gas prices. We entered into
natural gas swap agreements to hedge approximately 80
percent and 35 percent of our exposure to fluctuations in
natural gas prices in 2002 and 2001, respectively. At
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, the aggre-
gate notional principal amount of these agreements was 0.9
million MMBtu and 1.6 million MMBtu of natural gas,
respectively. These agreements are with institutions that are
expected to fully perform under the terms thereof.

Under these agreements, we pay fixed natural gas
prices ranging from $3.22 to $4.23 per MMBtu and receive
a NYMEX-based natural gas price. These agreements
mature in 2003 (0.8 million MMBtu notional principal
amount) and 2004 (0.1 million MMBtu nctional principal
amount). Gains and losses on these natural gas swap
agreements are deferred and recognized when the related
costs are recorded to cost of goods sold. Payments under
these natural gas swap agreements were $1.2 million and
$1.3 million during 2002 and 2001, respectively, and pay-
ments and receipts under these agreements were essen-
tially equal in 2000. During 2002 and 2001, natural gas
swap agreements for aggregate notional amounts of 1.5
million MMBtu and 0.8 million MMBtu of natural gas
expired, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from multi-
year supply agreements with many of our customers.
Aggregate revenues from our three largest customers
accounted for approximately 34.9 percent, 33.6 percent
and 33.7 percent of our net sales in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The receivable balances from these cus-
tomers collectively represented 27.4 percent and 31.1 per-
cent of our trade accounts receivable at December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively. As is common in the packag-
ing industry, we provide extended payment terms to some
of our customers due to the seasonality of the vegetable
and fruit pack processing business. Exposure to losses is

dependent on each customer’s financial position. We per-
form ongoing credit evaluations of our customers' financial
condition, and our receivables are generally not collateral-
ized. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts
which we believe is adequate to cover potential credit
losses based on customer credit evaluations, collection his-
tory and other information.

Note {1. Commitments and Contingencies

We have a number of noncancelable operating leases
for office and plant facilities, equipment and automobiles
that expire at various dates through 2020. Certain operating
leases have renewal options as well as various purchase
options. Minimum future rental payments under these
leases are as set forth below for each of the following years
(dollars in thousands):

2003 $21,085
2004 16,242
2005 13,665
2006 11,408
2007 9,181
Thereafter 23,706

$95,287

Rent expense was approximately $23.5 million, $22.8
million and $19.0 million for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

We are a party to routine legal proceedings arising in
the ordinary course of our business. We are not a party to,
and none of our properties are subject to, any pending
legal proceedings which could have a material aciverse
effect on our business or financial condition.

Note 12. Retirement Benefits

We sponsor a number of defined benefit pension and
defined contribution plans which cover substantially all
employees, other than union employees covered by multi-
employer defined benefit pension plans under collective
bargaining agreements. Pension benefits are provided
based on either a career average, final pay or years of ser-
vice formula. With respect to certain hourly employees,
pension benefits are provided based on stated amounts for
each year of service. It is our palicy to fund accrued pen-
sion and defined contribution costs in compliance with
ERISA requirements. Assets of the plans consist primarily of
equity and bond funds.
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We have unfunded defined benefit health care and life
insurance plans that provide postretirement benefits to cer-
tain employees. The plans are contributory, with retiree con-
tributions adjusted annually, and contain cost sharing fea-
tures including deductibles and coinsurance. Retiree health

benefits are paid as covered expenses are incurred.

The changes in benefit obligations and plan assets as
well as the funded status of our retirement plans at Decem-
per 31 are as follows:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2002 2001

Change in Benefit Obligation

Obligation at beginning of year $137,488 $128,840 $ 50,674 $ 49,682
Service cost 7,787 7,653 1,385 1,778
Interest cost 10,018 9,472 3,584 3,640
Actuarial losses 5,307 2,438 1127 2,494
Plan amendments 865 785 (71) —
Benefits paid (5,170) (5,004) (3,252) (2,475)
Participants’ contributions — —_ 308 218
Acquisition — 1,519 — 1,211
Curtailments or settlements — (8,215) — (5,874)

Obligation at end of year 156,295 137,488 53,755 50,674

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 93,960 97,770 — —
Actual return on plan assets (5,986) 508 — —
Employer contributions 24,970 15,585 2,944 2,257
Participants’ contributions — — 308 218
Benefits paid (5,170) (5,004) (3,252) (2,475)
Curtailments or settlements — (7,927) — —
Expenses (979) (972) — —

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 112,795 99,960 — —

Funded Status

Funded Status (43,500) (37,528) (53,755) (50,674)
Unrecognized actuarial loss 30,474 9,116 6,781 5,710
Unrecognized prior service cost 14,504 15,803 © 34 109

Net amount recognized $ 1,478 $(12,609) $(46,940) $(44,855)

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
Prepaid benefit cost $ 16,516 $ 4,005 3 — 3 —
Accrued benefit liability (41,958) (32,217) (46,940) (44,855)
Intangible asset 10,349 10,855 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 16,571 4,748 — —

Net amount recognized $ 1478 $(12,609) $(46,940) $(44,855)
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The components of the net periodic benefit cost for
each of the years ended December 31 are as follows:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
(Doilars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
Service cost $ 7,787 $ 7,653 $ 6,986 $1,385 $1,778 $1,228
Interest cost ' 10,018 9,472 8,671 3,684 3,640 3.220
Expected return on plan assets (9,144) (8,754) (7,925) — — —
Amortization of prior service cost 2,164 2,108 1,745 5 15 15
Amortization of actuarial losses (gains) 58 (93) (143) 57 23 20
Losses due to settlement or curtailment — 151 311 — — —
Net periodic benefit cost $10,883 $10,537 $ 9,645 $5,031 $5,456 $4,483
Our principal pension and postretirement benefit plans Note 13. Income Taxes
used the following weighted average actuarial assumptions The components of the provision for income taxes are
at December 31: as follows:
2002 2001 (Dolars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Discount rate 7.00% 7.25% Current:
Expected return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% Federal $ 5527 $11618 $ 7.859
Rate of compensation increase 3.60% 3.60% State 843 1,372 816
Foreign 3,549 3,380 2,656
The assumed health care cost trend rates used to deter- 9,919 16,370 11,331
mine the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation in Deferred:
2002 were 12.0 percent for‘p(e-age 6§ .retlrees and 10.0 Federal 22,825 12,378 10,372
pelrcent for post-age 65 rett.rees, declining gradually to an State 2325 2182 953
ultimate rate of 5.0 percent in 2009. The assumed health Foreign 69 (708) 424
care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the
amounts reported for the health care plan. A one percent- 25,219 13,852 11,748
age point change in the assumed health care cost trend $35,138  $30.222  $23,080

rates would have the following effects:

The provision for income taxes is included in our Con-
1-Percentage 1-Percentage

(Dollars in thousands) Point Increase  Point Decrease solidated Statements of Income as follows:
Effect on .postretlrement (Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
benefit cost $ 523 $ (436)
Effect on postretirement Income before equity in
benefit obligation 4,309 (3,701) losses of affiliates and
extraordinary item $37,190 $30,222  $25,790
We participate in several multi-employer pension plans Equity in losses of affiliates  (1,668) — —
which provide defined benefits to certain of our union Extraordinary item (384) — (2,710)

employees. Amounts contributed to these plans and
charged to pension cost in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $4.7
million, $4.6 million and $4.7 million, respectively.

We also sponsor defined contribution pension and profit
sharing plans covering substantially all employees. Our
contributions to these plans are based upon employee con-
tributions and operating profitability. Contributions charged
to expense for these plans were $6.6 million in 2002, $6.4
million in 2001 and $5.1 million in 2000.

$35,138  $30,222  $23,080

47




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Silgan Holdings Inc.

The provision for income taxes varied from income taxes
computed at the statutory 1J.S. federal income tax rate as a
result of the following:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Income taxes computed at
the statutory U.S. federal

income tax rate $31,131  $26,644 $20,649
State and foreign taxes, net

of federal tax benefit 2,873 1,855 1,109

Amortization of goodwill — 1,309 1,009

Other 1,134 314 313

$35,138 $30,222 $23,080

Effective tax rate 39.5% 39.7% 39.1%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of tem-
porary differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases. Significant components of our deferred tax assets
and liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001

Deferred tax assets:
Pension and postretirement

liabilities $ 25394 3 24694
Rationalization and other

accrued liabilities 16,863 24,971
Net operating loss carryforwards 29,226 39,128
AMT and other credit

carryforwards 30,272 25,405
Other 6,780 5,729

Total deferred tax assets 108,535 119,927

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment  (115,494)  (115,060)
Other (11,998) (10,843)

Total deferred tax liabilities (127,492)  (125,903)

Net deferred tax liability $ (18,957) $ (5,976)
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We file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return
that includes all domestic subsidiaries except CS Can,
which files a separate consolidated U.S. federal income tax
return. At December 31, 2002, we had net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $10.9 million that are avail-
able to offset future consolidated taxable income (exclud-
ing CS Can) and that expire in 2012. At December 31,
2002, CS Can had net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $62.4 million that are available to offset its
future taxable income and that expire from 2018 through
2022. We believe that it is more likely than not that these net
operating loss carryforwards will be available to reduce
future income tax liabilities based upon estimated future
taxable income, the reversal of tempcrary differences in
future periods and the utilization of tax planning strategies.
We also have $26.8 million of alternative minimum tax cred-
its and CS Can has $0.8 million of alternative minimum tax
credits which are available indefinitely to reduce future
income tax payments.

Pre-tax income of foreign subsidiaries was $11.1 million
in 2002, $10.7 million in 2001 and $8.9 million in 2000. At
December 31, 2002, approximately $30.3 million of accu-
mulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries are expected to be
permanently reinvested. Accordingly, applicable U.S, fed-
eral income taxes have not been provided. Determination
of the amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax lia-
bility is not practicable to estimate.

Note 14. Stock Option Plans

We have established a stock option plan, or the Plan, for
key employees pursuant to which options to purchase
shares of our common stock may be granted. The Plan
authorizes grants of non-qualified or incentive stock options
to purchase shares of our common stock. A maximum of
3,533,417 shares may be issued for stock options under
the Plan. As of December 31, 2002, there were options for
695,074 shares of our common stock available for future
issuance under the Plan. The exercise price of the stock
options granted under the Plan is the fair market value of
our common stock on the grant date. The stock cptions
granted under the Plan generally vest ratably over a five
year period beginning one year after the grant date and
have a term of ten years.

We have also established a stock option plan, or the
Directors’ Plan, for non-employee directors pursuant to
which options to purchase shares of our common stock
may be granted. The Directors’ Plan authorizes grants of
non-qualified stock options to purchase shares of our com-




mon stock. A maximum of 60,000 shares may be issued for
stock options under the Directors’ Plan. As of December
31, 2002, there were options for 54,000 shares of our com-

mon stock available for future issuance under the Directors'
Plan. The exercise price of the stock options granted under
the Directors’ Plan is the fair market value of our common

stock on the grant date. The stock options granted under
the Directors' Plan generally vest six months after the grant
date and have a term of ten years.

The following is a summary of stock option activity for
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

Weighted Average

Options Exercise Price
Options outstanding at December 31, 1999 857,268 $11.17
Granted 823,900 $13.62
Exercised (256,203) 200
Canceled (236,500) 21.88
Options outstanding at December 31, 2000 1,188,465 12.71
Granted 100,000 $20.76
Exercised (150,773) 6.82
Canceled — —
Options outstanding at December 31, 2001 1,137,692 14.20
Granted 151,440 $37.89
Exercised (377,172) 11.41
Canceled (144,600) 1557
Options outstanding at December 31, 2002 767,360 19.99

At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the remaining
contractual life of options outstanding was 7 4 years, 7.0
years and 7.5 years, respectively, and there were 220,280,
402,372 and 360,065 options exercisable with weighted

average exercise prices of $17.88, $12.26 and $8.12,
respectively.

The following is a summary of stock options outstanding
and exercisable at December 31, 2002 by range of exer-
cise price:

Range of Remaining Weighted Weighted
Exercise Number Contractuat Average Average
Prices Outstanding Life (Years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 7.25 - $14.09 463,920 7.2 $13.53 124,280 $13.52
17.00 - 22.13 130,000 6.1 20.53 80,000 21.22
25.15 - 37.26 48,000 8.0 31.67 16,000 34.97
38.00 - 42.22 125,440 9.4 38.85 — —
767,360 220,280

The weighted average fair value of options granted
was $25.49, $14.01 and $9.28 for 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

The fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model based on the following weighted aver-
age assumptions for grants made in 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000
Risk-free interest rate 5.4% 4.5% 6.6%
Expected volatility 59.6% 60.3% 60.6%
Dividend yield — — —
Expected option life (years) 8 8 8
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Note 15. Capital Stock

Qur authorized capital stock consists of 100,000,000
shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share, and
10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $.01 per
share.

Our Board of Directors previously authorized the repur-
chase of up to $70.0 miltion of our common stock from time
to time in the open market, through privately negotiated
transactions or through block purchases. Our repurchases
of common stock are recorded as treasury stock and result
in a charge to stockholders’ equity. Through December 31,
2002, we repurchased 2,708,975 shares of our common
stock for $61.0 miition.

Note 16. Earnings Per Share
The compenents of the calcutation of earnings per share

are as follows:

{Dollars and shares in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Income before

extraordinary item $54,407 $41,7656  $35524
Extraordinary item (599) — (4,216)
Net income $53,808 $41,765 $31,308
Weighted average number

of shares used in:
Basic earnings per share 18,135 17,777 17,652
Assumed exercise of

employee stock options 242 304 351
Diluted earnings per share 18,377 18,081 18,003

Options to purchase 16,494 to 174,223 shares of com-
mon stock at prices ranging from $25.15 to $42.22 per
share for 2002, 172,826 to 842,289 shares of common
stock at prices ranging from $11.63 to $36.75 per share for
2001 and 743,575 t0 997,900 shares of common stock at
prices ranging from $9.31 to $36.75 per share for 2000
were outstanding but were excluded from the computation
of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices
for such options were greater than the average market
price of the common stock and, therefore, the effect would
be antidilutive.
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Note 17. Related Partly Transactions

Pursuant to various management services agreements,
or the Management Agreements, entered into between
each of Holdings, Containers and Plastics and S&H Inc.,
or S&H, a company wholly owned by Mr. Silver, the Chair-
man and Co-Chief Executive Officer of Holdings, and
Mr. Horrigan, the President and Co-Chief Executive Officer
of Holdings, S&H provides Holdings and its subsidiaries
with general management, supervision and administrative
services.

fn 2002, 2001 and 2000, in consideration for its services,
S&H received a fee in an amount equal to 90.809 percent of
4.95 percent of our consolidated EBDIT (as defined in the
Management Agreements) until our consolidated EBDIT
had reached the scheduled amount set forth in the Man-
agement Agreements, plus reimbursement for all related
out-of-pocket expenses. We paid $5.2 mitlion, $5.1 million
and $4.9 million to S&H under the Management Agree-
ments in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These pay-
ments to S&H were allocated, based upon EBDIT, as a
charge 1o operating income of each of our business seg-
ments. Under the terms of the Management Agreements,
we have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, to indemnify
S&H and any of its affiliates, officers, directors, employees,
subcontractors, consuitants or controlling persons against
any loss or damage they may sustain arising in connection
with the Management Agreements.

During 2001 and 2000, The Morgan Stanley Leveraged
Equity Fund I, L.P,, an affiliate of Morgan. Stanley, held a
significant amount of our common stock. In each of 2001
and 2000, we paid Morgan Stantey $0.5 million for financial
advisory services. In 2002 and 2001, we entered into nat-
ural gas swap agreements with Morgan Stanley Capital
Group, Inc., or MSCG, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley, for an
aggregate notional principal amount of 0.8 million and 1.0
million MMBtu of natural gas. During 2002 and 2001, an
aggregate notional principal amount of 0.9 million MMBtu
and 0.1 million MMBtu, respectively, of these natural gas
swap agreements were settled under which we received
and paid insignificant amounts to MSCG. In 2002, we paid
Morgan Stanley and Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc.,
an affiliate of Morgan Stanley, a combined $4.9 million in
underwriting fees related to the New Credit Agreement and
the add-on issuance of the 9% Debentures. Mr. Abramson,
a director of Holdings, is a Managing Director of Morgan




Stanley & Co. Incorporated, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley.

Landstar System, Inc. provided transportation services
to our subsidiaries in the amount of $0.4 million, $0.7 million
and $0.9 million in 2002, 2007 and 2000, respectively. Mr.
Crowe, a director of Holdings, is the Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer of Landstar System,
Inc.

Note {8. Business Segment Information

We are engaged in the packaging industry and report
our results primarily in two business segments: metal food
containers and plastic containers. The metal food contain-
ers segment manufactures steel and aluminum containers
for human and pet food and paperboard containers. The
plastic containers segment manufactures custom designed

plastic cantainers for personal care, health care, pharma-
ceutical, household and industrial chemical, food, pet care,
agricultural chemical, automotive and marine chemical
products, as well as plastic bowls and cans, plastic clo-
sures, caps, sifters and fitments and thermoformed plastic
tubs for personal care, food, pet care and household prod-
ucts. These segments are strategic business operations
that offer different products. Each are managed separately
because each business produces a packaging product
requiring different technology, production and marketing
strategies. Each segment operates primarily in the United
States. There are no inter-segment sales. The accounting
policies of the business segments are the same as those
described in Note 1.

Information for each of the past three years for our busi-
ness segments is as follows:

Metal Food Plastic Metal

(Dollars in thousands) Containerst! Containers(2) Closures Corporate Total
2002

Net sales $1,486,950 $501,334 3 — 8 — $1,988,284
Depreciation and amortization 59,435 36,225 — 55 95,718
Segment income from operations 120,587 52,916 — (5,563) 167,940
Segment assets 901,628 472,549 — — 1,374 177
Capital expenditures 82,836 36,287 — 37 119,160
2001

Net sales $1,401,146 $493,598 $46,250 $ — $1,940,094
Depreciation and amortization 55,097 37,864 2,475 95 95,531
Segment income from operations 108,360 45,992 3,268 (5,209) 162,411
Segment assets 856,336 454,104 — — 1,310,440
Capital expenditures 54,869 37,340 761 72 93,042
2000

Net sales $1,387,705 $3098,953 $90,839 $8 — $1,877,497
Depreciation and amortization 53,063 30,887 4,917 102 88,969
Segment income from operations 120,238 36,880 3,675 (3,701) 157,102
Segment assets 860,546 466,663 54,166 — 1,381,375
Capital expenditures 58,617 28,292 2,298 20 89,227

(1) Includes rationalization credits of $5.4 million in 2002 and net rationalization charges of $5.8 million in 2001. Includes
goodwill amortization of $2.3 million and $2.4 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

(2) Includes a rationalization credit of $0.2 million in 2002 and a rationalization charge of $3.5 million in 2001. Includes goodwill
amortization of $2.7 million and $1.8 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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Total segment income from operations is reconciled to
income before income taxes, equity in losses of affiliates
and extraordinary item as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Total segment income
from operations

Gain on assets
contributed to affiliate —

Interest and other debt
expense

$167,940 $152,411 $157,102

(4,908) —

73,789 81,192 91,178

Income before income
taxes, equity in
losses of affiliates and

extracrdinary item $ 94,151 §$ 76,127 $ 65,924

Total segment assets are reconciled to total assets as

follows:
(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001
Total segment

assets $1,374,177 $1,310,440
Other assets 248 1,380

Total assets $1,374,425 $1,311,820
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Financial information relating to our operations by geo-
graphic area is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Net sales:
United States $1,928,058 $1,882,114 $1,823,349

Canada 60,226 58,880 54,148

Total net sales $1,988,284 $1,940,994 $1,877,497

Long-lived assets:
United States $ 824571 § 796,632
Canada 22,656 22,375

Total long-lived
assets $ 847,227 $§ 819,007

Net sales are attributed to the country from which the
product was manufactured and shipped.

Sales of our metal food containers segment to Nestlé
Food Company accounted for 12.1 percent, 10.8 percent
and 11.8 percent of our consolfidated net sales during
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Sales of our metal food
containers segment to Campbell Soup Company
accounted for 11.4 percent, 12.2 percent and 10.7 percent
of our consolidated net sales during 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Sales of our metal food containers segment to
Del Monte Corporation accounted for .9 percent, 10.1
percent, and 10.7 percent of our consolidated net sales
during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.




Note 19. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
The following table presents our quarterly results of

operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001:

{Dollars in thousands, except per share data) First Second Third Fourth
2002(1
Net sales $424,256 $456,249 $640,854 $466,925
Gross profit 52,487 57,427 81,234 47,405
Income before extraordinary item 11,343 10,674 26,198 6,192
Net income 11,343 10,075 26,198 6,192
Basic earnings per share: (@
Income before extraordinary item $ 063 $ 059 $ 144 $ 034
Net income 0.63 0.56 1.44 0.34
Diluted earnings per share: (@
Income before extraordinary item $ 082 $ 058 $ 142 $ 034
Net income 0.62 0.55 1.42 0.34
200103
Net sales $443,514 $445,417 $590,791 $461,272
Gross profit 50,930 57,192 78,978 53,186
Net income 2,225 7,447 27,279 4,814
Basic net income per share(2! $ 0.13 $ 042 $ 153 $ 027
Diluted net income per share(@ 0.12 0.41 1.50 0.26

(1) Netincome for the first, third and fourth quarters of 2002 includes rationalization credits of $2.3 million, $2.6 million and
$0.7 million, respectively. Net income for the second quarter of 2002 includes an extraordinary loss of $0.6 million, net of

income taxes.

(2) Earnings per share data is computed independently for each of the periods presented. Accordingly, the sum of the
quarterly earnings per share amounts may not equal the total for the year.

(3) Net income for the first quarter of 2001 includes a rationalization charge of $3.5 million. Net income for the third quarter of
2001 includes a gain on assets contributed to affiliate of $5.3 million. Net income for the fourth quarter of 2001 includes net
rationalization charges of $5.8 million and a reduction of $0.4 million to the gain on assets contributed to affiliate.

Note 20. Subsequent Events

In January 2003, we acquired substantially all of the
assets of Thatcher Tubes LLC and its affiliates, or Thatcher
Tubes, a privately held manufacturer and marketer of deco-
rated plastic tubes serving primarily the personal care
industry. The purchase price, including additional produc-
tion capacity recently installed and currently being
installed, was approximately $32 million in cash.

In March 2003, we acquired the remaining 65 percent
equity interest in the White Cap joint venture that we did not
already own from Amcer White Cap inc. for $37.1 million in
cash and refinanced approximately $30 million of debt of
the business.

On March 3, 2003, we completed a $150 million incre-
mental term loan borrowing under the New Credit Agree-
ment. The proceeds were used largely to finance the acqui-
sitions of White Cap and Thatcher Tubes. The terms of the
incremental term loans are the same as those for B term
loans under the New Credit Agreement. This borrowing
reduces our incremental uncommitted term loan facility
under the New Credit Agreement to $125 million.

On March 28, 2003, we announced that we will acquire
PCP Can Manufacturing, Inc., a subsidiary of Pacific Coast
Producers, or PCP, through which PCP self-manufactures
its metal food containers. The transaction is expected to
close in April 20083.
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Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998(0)
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)
Operating Data:
Net sales $1,988.3 $1,841.0 $1,877.5 $1,892.1 $1,768.7
Cost of goods sold 1,749.7 1,700.7 1,648.3 1,656.7 1,546.3
Gross profit 238.6 240.3 229.2 235.4 222.4
Selling, general and administrative expenses 76.2 78.6 721 75.0 68.1
Rationalization (credits) charges (5.6) 9.3 — 36.1 —
Income from operations 168.0 152.4 1571 124.3 154.3
Gain on assets contributed to affiliate — 4.9 — — —
Interest and other debt expense 738 81.2 91.2 86.1 815
Income before income taxes, equity in losses of

affiliates and extraordinary item 94.2 76.1 65.9 38.2 72.8
Provision for income taxes 37.2 30.2 258 14.3 26.9
Income before equity in losses of affiliates

and extraordinary item 57.0 459 40.1 23.9 459
Equity in losses of affiliates (2.6) (4.1) (4.6) — —
Income before extraordinary item 54.4 418 355 23.9 459
Extracrdinary item - loss on =arly

extinguishment of debt, net of income taxes (0.6) — (4.2) — —
Netincome $ 538 $ 418 $ 313 $ 239 $ 459
Per Share Data:
Basic earnings per share:

Income before extraordinary item $ 300 $ 235 $ 201 $ 135 $ 241

Extraordinary item (.03) — (0.24) — —

Basic net income per share $ 297 $ 235 $ 177 $ 135 $ 241
Diluted earnings per share:

Income before extraordinary item $ 296 $ 231 $ 197 $ 132 $ 230

Extraordinary item (0.03) — (0.23) — —

Diluted net income per share $ 293 $ 231 3 174 $ 132 $ 230
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Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000 1989 1098(0)
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)
Selected Segment Data:
Net sales:
Metal food containers $1,487.0 $1,401.1 $1,387.7 $1,440.0 $1,333.0
Plastic containers 501.3 493.6 399.0 350.5 3375
Metal closures — 46.3 90.8 101.6 98.2
Income from operations:
Metal food containers(c) 120.6 108.3 120.2 84.5 115.7
Plastic containers(d 529 46.0 36.9 40.0 37.4
Metal closures — 3.3 3.7 3.7 43
Other Data:
Capita! expenditures $ 118.2 $ 930 $ 892 $ 874 $ 86.1
Depreciation and amortization(e) 95.7 95.5 89.0 86.0 77.5
Net cash provided by operating activities 163.3 143.0 951 143.3 147 .4
Net cash used in investing activities (117.2) (59.8) (218.5) (84.9) {278.3)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 5.7) (85.3) 141.0 (60.7) 82.0
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):
Goodwill, net $ 1415 $ 1415 $ 153.0 $ 1076 $ 109.2
Total assets 1,374.4 1,311.8 1,383.8 1,185.3 1,224.0
Total debt 956.8 944.8 10315 883.3 927.0
Stockholders' equity (deficiency) 63.1 151 (20.4) (48.7) (57.3)

(a) On October 1, 2000, we acquired RXI. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase transaction and the results of
operations have been included with our consolidated results of operations from the date of acquisition.

(b) On June 1, 1998, we acquired CS Can. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase transaction and the resutts of
operations have been included with our consolidated results of operations from the date of acqguisition.

(c) Income from operations of the metal food container business includes rationalization credits of $5.4 million in 2002, net

rationalization charges of $5.8 million in 2001 and rationalization charges of $36.1 million in 1999.

(d) Income from operations of the plastic container business includes a rationzlization credit of $0.2 miltion in 2002 and a

rationalization charge of $3.5 million in 2001.

(e) Depreciation and amortization excludes amortization of debt financing costs. Depreciation and amortization includes
goodwill amortization of $5.0 million, $4.2 million, $3.9 million and $3.2 million in 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1898, respectively.
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About Silgan:

We are a leading North American manufacturer of con-
sumer goods packaging products with annual sales of
approximately $2.0 billion in 2002. We operate 69 manufac-
turing facilities in the United States, Canada and Mexico. In
North America, we are the largest supplier of metal contain-
ers for food products, a leading supplier of plastic contain-
ers for personal care products and a leading supplier of
metal and plastic closures for food and beverage products.

Our products include steel and aluminum containers for
human and pet food; custom designed plastic containers,
tubes and closures for personal care, health care, pharma-
ceutical, household and industrial chemical, food, pet care,
agricultural chemical, automotive and marine chemical
products; and metal, comgosite and plastic closures for
food and beverage products. We market our products
through a direct sales force: and, in part, through a network
of distributors.

Form 10-K:

We will provide to our shareholders without charge a
copy of our 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-K, excluding
exhibits, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Requests should be made in writing and
addressed to the Corporate Secretary at the Company’s
office or made through the Company’s website.

Company Office:

Silgan Holdings Inc.

4 Landmark Square, Suite 400

Stamford, Connecticut 06901-2596

Main Tel. No.: (203) 975-7110

Investor Relations Tel. No.: (203) 406-3160
Website: www.silgan.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar:

The Bank of New York
Shareholder Relations Department
P.O. Box 11258

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286

Tel. No.: (800) 524-4458

Website: www.stockbny.com

Independent Auditors:
Ernst & Young LLP
1111 Summer Street
Stamford, CT 06905
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Stock Information and Symbol:

Our Common Stock is listed on the Nasdag National
Market System and is traded under the symbol “SLGN." As
of March 1, 2003, there were approximately 66 holders of
record of our Common Stock.

@sisn

LI S TED

Quarterly Stock information:

The following table sets forth the high and low closing
sales prices of our Common Stock as quoted by the
Nasdaq National Market System for the periods indicated
below.

2002 High Low

First Quarter $34.04 $21.40
Second Quarter 42.83 33.27
Third Quarter 42,14 24.35
Fourth Quarter 29.88 18.41
2001 High Low

First Quarter $12.56 $ 7.88
Second Quarter 22.94 10.88
Third Quarter 25.29 16.50
Fourth Quarter 26.16 18.65

Dividends:

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our
Common Stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain
all available funds for use in the operation and expansion of
our business and do not anticipate paying any cash divi-
dends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future. Any
future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the
discretion of our Board of Directors and will be dependent
upon our results of operations, financial condition, applica-
ble contractual restrictions and other factors deemed rele-
vant by our Board of Directors. We are allowed to pay cash
dividends on our Common Stock up to specified limits
under our senior secured credit agreements and our inden-
ture for our 9% Senior Subordinated Debentures due 2009.

%SEL@AN. is a registered trademark of the Company.
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